

Review

pubs.acs.org/CR

Multiscale Modeling of Aqueous Electric Double Layers

Maximilian Becker,[#] Philip Loche,[#] Majid Rezaei,[#] Amanuel Wolde-Kidan,[#] Yuki Uematsu, Roland R. Netz, and Douwe Jan Bonthuis^{*}

Cite This: Chem. Rev. 2024, 124, 1–26		Read Online		
ACCESS	III Metrics & More		E Article Recommendations	

ABSTRACT: From the stability of colloidal suspensions to the charging of electrodes, electric double layers play a pivotal role in aqueous systems. The interactions between interfaces, water molecules, ions and other solutes making up the electrical double layer span length scales from Ångströms to micrometers and are notoriously complex. Therefore, explaining experimental observations in terms of the double layer's molecular structure has been a long-standing challenge in physical chemistry, yet recent advances in simulations techniques and computational power have led to tremendous progress. In particular, the past decades have seen the development of a multiscale theoretical framework based on the combination of quantum density functional theory, force-field based simulations and continuum theory. In this Review, we discuss these theoretical developments and make quantitative comparisons to experimental results from, among other techniques, sum-frequency generation, atomic-force microscopy, and electrokinetics. Starting from the vapor/water interface, we treat a range of qualitatively different types of surfaces, varying from soft to solid, from hydrophilic to hydrophobic, and from charged to uncharged.



CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1	
2. Molecular Structure of the Pristine Water Inter-	-	
face	3	
2.1. Density Variations	3	
2.2. Orientation	4	
2.3. Interface Potential	5	
3. Continuum Description of Interfacial Water	8	
3.1. Dielectric Profile	8	
3.2. Box Profile of the Dielectric Constant	9	
3.3. Effective Dielectric Constant between Two		
Surfaces	9	
3.4. Viscosity and Surface Slip	10	
3.5. Box Profile of the Effective Viscosity	12	
4. Ions at Charged and Uncharged Surfaces	12	
4.1. Single lons at Uncharged Interfaces	12	
4.2. Box Profile of the Potential of Mean Force	14	
4.3. Extended Poisson–Boltzmann Equations	14	
4.4. Charged Interfaces with Counterions Only	15	
4.5. Ion Adsorption at Finite Bulk Concentration	16	
4.6. Effect of lons and Electric Fields on the		
Dielectric and Viscous Properties	16	
4.7. Charged Surfactants	18	
5. Discussion and Outlook	19	
Associated Content	21	
Special Issue Paper	21	
Author Information		
Corresponding Author	21	
Authors	21	
Author Contributions	21	

Notes	21
Biographies	21
Acknowledgments	21
References	21

1. INTRODUCTION

In the context of charged objects in electrolyte solutions, the electric double layer is of special interest: it is the region where the charge on the objects' surface is neutralized by oppositely charged species in the liquid solution. The charge on the surface can be caused either by electrochemical reactions, or by the preferential adsorption of charged species, or by the charging of a metallic interface. Despite its typically modest spatial extent, it is hard to overestimate the importance of the electrical double layer for the physical chemistry of aqueous solutions. In particular, every measurement of the electrostatic potential in solution is affected by the double layer at the electrode's surface. Similarly, estimates of the surface charge density of solutes by means of their electrophoretic mobility are dominated by the double layer structure. Furthermore, all electrochemical reactions take place in the double layer, and,

Received:May 7, 2023Revised:November 17, 2023Accepted:November 30, 2023Published:December 20, 2023



finally, the double layer mediates the interactions between charged solutes. This is of particular importance in biological and soft-matter systems, where electrostatics dominate the interactions between colloids, macromolecules and macromolecular assemblies, but also in battery technology, colloidal chemistry, micro- and nanofluidics, catalysis, and many other branches of science and industry.

Apart from ions and surface charge, water molecules play a pivotal role in structuring the electric double layer. A clear illustration of the ordering and orientation of the interfacial water molecules is provided by the existence of a nonzero electrostatic potential $\psi(z)$ also in the absence of surface charge, such as the potential observed in molecular dynamics simulations of the vapor/water interface, see Figure 1(A). The



Figure 1. Electrostatic interface and double layer potentials from force-field (FF) molecular dynamics simulations and mean-field models. (A) Total potential $\psi(z)$ at the vapor/water interface, reflecting the orientation of the water molecules, as well as higher-order multipole moments, see section 2. The inset shows the potential on a line through the interface and a solvated helium atom in the water bulk. (B) Potential at the silica-water interface at different surface charge densities σ . The shaded area indicates the surface up to the position of the outermost oxygen atoms at $z - z_{GDS} = -0.1$ nm, where z_{GDS} denotes the Gibbs dividing surface. (C) Potential difference $\delta \psi(z)$ between the charged and uncharged surface calculated using the Gouy-Chapman and Stern theories for $\sigma = -0.26e/nm^2$. (D) $\delta \psi(z)$ at the silica surface extracted from the simulations shown in (B) together with the Gouy-Chapman theory. Models for $\delta \psi(z)$ are discussed in sections 3 and 4.

underlying interfacial structure is observed in experiments¹ and a range of different simulations,^{2,3} but note that the electrostatic potential across an aqueous interface crucially depends on the molecular model used to simulate the water. A potential difference similar to the one observed at aqueous interfaces is found in the solvation shell of ions and neutral particles in aqueous solution, as shown in the inset of Figure 1(A).

The interfacial electrostatic potential is modified by the presence of ions and a surface charge density σ , as shown in Figure 1(B) for a silica surface in a 0.15 M NaCl solution. We refer to the difference between the potential with and without surface charge and ions as $\delta \psi(z)$. Throughout the 19th century, there has been a steady improvement of the understanding of ion distributions at charged surfaces, culminating in the formulation of the mean-field Poisson–Boltzmann equation for $\delta \psi(z)$ by Gouy⁴ and Chapman,⁵

which still forms the basis of most current double layer theory, see Figure 1(C). Since Gouy–Chapman, several modifications of the Poisson-Boltzmann theory have been proposed. First of all, the observation that the Gouy-Chapman model overestimates the interfacial capacitance of a Ag electrode in a AgNO₃ solution resulted in the introduction of the Stern layer,⁶ see Figure 1(C). Although the interpretation of the Stern layer is still subject to debate,^{7–9} most models agree that it constitutes a combination of specific ion adsorption and a reduced dielectric constant as originally postulated by Stern. For instance, a Stern-layer like contribution to the capacitance at metal surfaces has been shown to arise from the nonlocal dielectric response function.¹⁰ Second, the finite size of ions has been introduced both to allow for ion-specificity and to prevent the unphysically high interfacial ion densities obtained using the Gouy-Chapman theory.¹¹⁻¹⁵ Third, it has been realized that ion-specific effects not only depend on ion size, but there are additional contributions from the ion-surface and ion-water interactions. One way to include these effects into the Gouy-Chapman theory is by adding an ion-specific and ion-position dependent free energy to the electrostatic potential energy in the Boltzmann terms.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Fourth, as mentioned above, the water structure around the ions and around the solutes is not homogeneous. Instead, water molecules around hydrophobic solutes,¹⁹ amino acids,²⁰ lipid membranes²¹ and ions²² experience structural and dynamic constraints. Analytical theory predicts that the orientational constraints on water molecules at aqueous interfaces lead to a spatially varying dielectric response.²³ Moreover, due to the correlations of the water polarization in time and space, the bulk dielectric response needs to be expressed as a function of wave vector²⁴ and frequency,²⁵ with consequences for the electrostatic screening around charged solutes²⁶⁻²⁸ and in confinement.^{29,30} At interfaces, including the effect of the boundary on the nonlocal spatial correlations results in an effective dielectric response that varies with the distance from the interface.³¹ As an alternative to including the dielectric through a response function, it can be taken into account by explicitly accounting for the presence of dipolar particles.³²⁻

Several approaches beyond these mean-field continuum theories are being actively pursued. Classical density functional theory relies on the minimization of the grand potential written as a functional of the one-particle density, which for rigid dipolar particles is a function of position and orientation.³⁵ Free energy functionals have been designed to include microscopic effects such as the coupling between polarization and solvent densities, dipolar saturation and the nonlocal character of the dielectric response discussed above.^{36,37} The contribution to the free energy functional stemming from the interactions within the fluid depends on the fluid's direct correlation function, which is connected to the pair correlation function through the Ornstein-Zernike equation.³⁵ Integral equation theories provide a way to estimate these correlation functions by solving the Ornstein-Zernike equation together with a closure relation typically based on molecular pairwise additive interaction potentials. Integral equation theories can accurately predict the structure of liquid water, from which the nonlocal dielectric response function has been derived.³⁸ Many other analytical approaches exist,³⁹ yet formulating an analytical theory with sufficient molecular details that agrees with experiments-which is essential in order to explain experimental observations in terms of the molecular structure

of the interface—has so far proved to be an insurmountable challenge.

The advent of molecular dynamics (MD) simulation techniques has brought a new perspective, providing insight into the interfacial structure at the atomic and subatomic scale. In particular, simulations can be used to study a number of phenomena not covered by the mean-field description. First, molecular dynamics simulations naturally include fluctuation and correlation effects between the particles, providing an important addition to mean-field models. One example of a phenomenon depending on these effects is like-charge attraction,⁴⁰⁻⁴³ which cannot be described within the meanfield approach. Second, the electrostatic structure of the water molecules can be modeled beyond ideal multipole moment approximations, which turns out to be of immense importance for the interfacial water structure. The detailed molecular electrostatic structure is incorporated in the simulations through the design of the pairwise interaction potential in force-field-based (FF) molecular dynamics simulations and through the approximation of the electron density in quantum density functional theory (DFT)-based molecular dynamics simulations. Third, simulations can be used to study the image charge interaction experienced by ions approaching a dielectric boundary, which is not included in Gouy-Chapman theory. Simulations have been used in particular to study how image charge effects depend on the dielectric properties of the water,^{44,45} the ions⁴⁶ and the surface.⁴⁷ Fourth, ion-specific effects on adsorption, interfacial structure, and solvation structure can be studied in greater detail. An important prerequisite in the case of FF-based MD simulations is that an accurate method for the parametrization of the ionic interaction potentials is available.48 Finally, DFT-based simulations of charged interfaces can be used to study the coupling between surface charges and chemical reactivity at metal oxide interfaces. $^{49-51}$ The combined effects of these atomistic aspects on the electrostatic potential $\delta \psi(z)$ at a silica surface carrying a fixed surface charge density in contact with a 0.15 M NaCl solution, calculated using FF-based MD simulations, can be seen in Figure 1(D). Conspicuous differences between the simulated $\delta \psi(z)$ and the Gouy-Chapman prediction include the steep increase near the surface-which, incidentally, is also present in the heuristic Stern model,⁶ see Figure 1(C)—and the nonmonotonic behavior in the first nanometer. The purpose of the present Review is to discuss the origins and consequences of these features of $\psi(z)$ and $\delta \psi(z)$ from the molecular scale up to the scale of colloids, nanofluidic devices and electrodes.

In this Review, we discuss the developments in the multiscale modeling of electric double layers over the last two decades, focusing on soft hydrophobic surfaces such as vapor/water and oil/water, solid hydrophilic surfaces such as silica, more hydrophobic solid surfaces such as graphene, and soft hydrophilic surfaces such as lipid membranes. We treat both uncharged and charged surfaces, expanding on a recent review of the latter.⁵² First, we discuss water density oscillations and molecular orientation, comparing FF- and quantum DFT-based MD simulations. Second, we describe the implications of this interfacial structure on the electrostatic properties of the electric double layer. In particular, we discuss the interface potential at vapor/water surfaces and the dielectric tensor at different types of interfaces. Third, as a separate, but closely related, topic, we discuss the effects of the interfacial structure on the local interfacial effective viscosity.

Nanofluidic experiments reveal anomalous transport properties at interfaces and in confinement.⁵³ The viscosity is affected by the same interfacial structure affecting the dielectric tensor,⁵ and studying both the electrostatic and hydrodynamic properties of electric double layers gives complementary information on this structure. The hydrodynamic effects are particularly relevant for electrokinetic measurements, which play a prominent role in investigations of the double layer properties.^{55–57} Most notably, electrokinetic measurements are used to estimate the ζ -potential. The ζ potential is often interpreted as a measure of the electrostatic surface charge and potential,⁵⁸ which we show to be a problematic interpretation in some cases. Fourth, we discuss the effects of the interfacial structure on ions in the solution. In particular, we show how the dielectric properties, the image charge potential and the potential of mean force affect the ion density at uncharged and charged surfaces, with an emphasis on the different ways in which the results from molecular simulations can be incorporated in the Poisson–Boltzmann theory.^{16,59} Finally, we review how the presence of minute amounts of surfactants can affect experimental measurements at hydrophobic surfaces and their theoretical interpretation. Combining simulations and continuum theory allows the construction of a multiscale description of aqueous interfaces in general and electric double layers in particular, spanning length scales from the subnanometer details of the quantum DFT-based simulations to the micrometer scale that can be easily reached using numerical mean-field calculations.

2. MOLECULAR STRUCTURE OF THE PRISTINE WATER INTERFACE

Without any surface charge or ions present, aqueous interfaces still exhibit a strong variation of the electrostatic potential due to the layering and orientation of the water molecules. Although pristine interfaces are rare in practice, the effect of the presence of an interface on the water structure is so strong that a theoretical consideration of pristine aqueous interfaces is warranted.

2.1. Density Variations

When packing hard spheres or Lennard-Jones particles next to a solid surface, density oscillations are typically expected, and the same is true for water at flat solid surfaces. Early measurements of the force between curved hydrophilic mica surfaces using a surface force apparatus show very strong oscillations,⁶⁰ attributed to a layered water structure. Also at planar surfaces, atomic force microscopy (AFM) experiments reveal oscillatory force profiles at hydrophobic graphite and hydrophilic mica surfaces using a silicon AFM tip,⁶¹ as well as at various hydrophobic surfaces, including graphite, using a hydrophobic carbon AFM tip.⁶² Water-mediated hydration forces are caused not only by molecular density fluctuations. The coupling between polarization and molecular density fluctuations gives rise to a resonance peak in the wave-vectordependent nonlocal dielectric response function, which in turn causes an oscillatory decay in the water-mediated forces between smooth surfaces.⁶³ Yet to show that the oscillatory structure is present also in the absence of the AFM tip, the interfacial density of water oxygen can be extracted from a fit to X-ray spectroscopy data. At mica surfaces, X-ray measurements show density oscillations with the first peaks reaching more than twice the bulk density.⁶⁴ Although the layering is typically smeared out at soft and rough surfaces, the interfacial density can still be different from the bulk, varying from depletion at hydrophobic surfaces 65 to enhancement at hydrophilic ones. 66

The density variations affect the electric double layer in multiple ways. First, the interfacial effective viscosity and surface friction are directly related to the interfacial density. Second, an enhanced or reduced density of polar molecules affects the dielectric properties of the interfacial layer. Third, density variations have a direct effect on the adsorption of ions due to steric exclusion.⁶⁷ In particular, FF MD simulations show that ions at charged hydrophobic surfaces accumulate between the peaks in the oscillating water density profile,⁶⁸ an effect expected to vanish for surfaces exhibiting a roughness of as little as the size of a molecule.⁶³ In these simulated density profiles, the traditional interfacial layers can be clearly identified,⁷ viz., partially dehydrated ions between the surface and the first density peak form the inner Helmholtz layer of adsorbed ions, fully hydrated ions between the first two density peaks form the outer Helmholtz layer, and the rest of the fluid forms the diffuse layer. These aspects will be discussed in more detail in section 3.

2.2. Orientation

Apart from forming a layered structure, interfacial water molecules adopt a specific orientation because of their strong polarity. One of the simplest water models exhibiting polar ordering is a Stockmayer fluid, consisting of Lennard-Jones spheres carrying point dipoles. Because of its symmetry, a particular orientation perpendicular to the uncharged interface is not expected. Instead, molecules at the vapor/liquid interface of a Stockmayer fluid orient parallel to the interface.^{69,70} In contrast, including higher-order multipole moments in the description of the water molecules does allow for a symmetry breaking perpendicular to the interface. For example, modeling water molecules as a point dipole and point quadrupole inside a spherical dielectric cavity leads to an interfacial polarization with hydrogen atoms pointing toward the liquid phase.⁷¹ As the authors note, however, this prediction crucially depends on the assumed position of the multipoles in the spherical dielectric cavity, and the sign of the interfacial orientation can be reversed by shifting the multipoles with respect to the cavity. The bulk properties of water have been reproduced successfully by including multipole moments up to the octupole,⁷² but the effects of multipole moments above the quadrupole on the interfacial orientation have not been explicitly investigated so far.

In the simplest FF-based MD simulations, water molecules are modeled as two positively charged hydrogen atoms rigidly attached to a negatively charged oxygen atom. Lennard-Jones interactions typically only act between the oxygen atoms, such as in SPC/E⁷⁸ and TIP3P.⁷⁹ In Figure 2, we compare the water orientation obtained from FF-based MD simulations using the SPC/E water model with the results from DFT MD using the BLYP density functional with Grimme dispersion corrections, GTH pseudopotentials, and either a DZVP-SR-MOLOPT $(\text{panel B})^{73}$ or a TZV2P $(\text{panel D})^{77}$ basis set. The orientation of the water molecules at the interface can be quantified by the angles of the OH vectors or the dipole vector with the surface normal.⁸⁰ Here, we focus on the average cosine of the angle θ between the water dipole and the surface normal, see Figure 2(A). In Figure 2(B), we show the profile of $\langle \cos \theta \rangle$ as a function of the distance z to the Gibbs dividing surface (z_{GDS}) at the vapor/water interface. On the vapor side of the Gibbs



pubs.acs.org/CR

Figure 2. Water orientation at the vapor, silica, and hexane-water interface. (A) The angle θ is defined as the angle between the water dipole moment and the z-axis, which is perpendicular to the interface. The liquid aqueous phase is to the right of the Gibbs dividing surface. (B) $\langle \cos \theta \rangle$, where $\langle \cdots \rangle$ denotes the lateral and time average, at the vapor/water interface from FF MD simulations (orange line) and DFT MD simulations (symbols). Data are shown for water densities above 0.1% of the bulk density. The DFT standard deviations have been obtained from block averaging in the time domain.⁷³ (C) $\langle \cos \rangle$ $|\theta\rangle$ at the silica–water interface from FF MD simulations at surface charge density $\sigma = 0$ and at $\sigma = -0.26e/\text{nm}^2$ and 0.15 M NaCl.^{74,7} (D) $\langle \cos \theta \rangle$ at the hexane/water interface from DFT-based MD simulations in the presence of 5 M HCl (symbols), as well as from FF MD simulations at both the pristine hexane/water interface (orange line)⁷⁶ and in the presence of 2 M HCl, modeled as H_3O^+ and $Cl^$ ions (red broken line).⁷⁷ The orientation of H₃O⁺ is not included in $\langle \cos \theta \rangle$.

dividing surface, $z - z_{GDS} < 0$, we find $\langle \cos \theta \rangle < 0$, indicating a molecular orientation with the hydrogen atoms pointing toward the vapor phase. From the Gibbs dividing surface, a layer of water molecules that are predominantly oriented with the hydrogen atoms pointing away from the vapor extends about 0.5 nm into the liquid water phase. Beyond this layer, the orientation becomes isotropic. FF and DFT simulation methods give qualitatively similar results, yet the orientation profile found in DFT-based simulations is slightly more pronounced. Previous calculations of the water orientation at the vapor/water interface based on a separate analysis of the two OH angles in DFT-based simulations are in excellent agreement with the results shown here.^{3,81} Although otherwise similar, however, the orientation of water dipoles with hydrogen atoms pointing toward the vapor has not been observed in FF-based simulations using TIP4P water.⁸² Using a classical density functional theory treating dipolar molecules as spherical shells with a dipolar charge distribution, simulated interfacial orientations of a number of different polar fluids confined between charged surfaces have been reproduced, confirming the interplay between the molecule's intramolecular charge distribution, its finite size and its orientation.⁸³

In experiments, the water orientation can be measured using sum-frequency generation (SFG), because only groups of molecules with a net polar orientation contribute to the sum-frequency spectrum.⁸⁴ The sign of the imaginary part of the second-order susceptibility $\chi^{(2)}$, which can be detected in phase-sensitive SFG experiments, is determined by the direction of the net polar orientation.⁸⁵ Analysis of the vapor/water interface using phase sensitive sum-frequency spectroscopy shows one sharp positive peak around 3700 cm⁻¹

and a negative region at 3200-3600 cm^{-1.86,87} The positive peak has been interpreted as coming from water molecules in the outermost water layer, having one OH group which is not hydrogen-bonded pointing toward the vapor phase, and the negative region as coming from the donor-bonded OH groups pointing into the fluid phase.⁸⁸ A very similar SFG signal is found at the weakly interacting graphene/water interface.⁸⁹ This experimentally determined water orientation evidently agrees very well with the orientation profile determined by the FF- and DFT-based MD simulations shown in Figure 2(B), yet in the absence of polarizability a quantitative comparison with FF simulations is out of reach. A direct comparison of the SFG spectrum with FF simulations can be made when polarizable water molecules are used instead.⁹⁰ At the vapor/water interface, the comparison is qualitatively good,⁹¹ but also for polarizable water models a quantitative agreement is not obtained. Good agreement with experimental SFG spectra can be obtained from DFT-based MD simulations, however, depending on the level of theory used.⁹²

Silica simulations have been performed using the force field developed by Emami et al.,⁹³ using the Q3 form of silica, which has 4.7 silanol groups per nm^{2,75} The deprotonation levels are set at 0 and at 5%, the latter corresponding to approximately pH 5, having a surface charge density of -0.26e nm⁻². For the electrolyte, the SPC/E water model⁷⁸ and the ion force field from Loche et al.⁴⁸ have been employed. At the silica interface, the orientation profile shows the same qualitative features as the one at the vapor/water interface, but the region of negative $\langle \cos \theta \rangle$ is less extended because of the presence of the solid surface and the region of positive $\langle \cos \theta \rangle$ exhibits oscillations reminiscent of those in the density profile, see Figure 2(C). Upon adding a negative surface charge, together with counterions, in addition to a moderate background concentration of 0.15 M NaCl, $\langle \cos \theta \rangle$ shifts down and becomes negative in the entire interface region. That means that the water orientation with hydrogen atoms pointing toward the surface becomes more pronounced, as expected based on the electric field emanating from the charged surface. The orientation profile at the pristine hexane interface very closely resembles the orientation profile at the vapor/water interface, see Figure 2(D). Similar to the situation for TIP4P at the vapor/water interface, orientation of the water dipole with hydrogen atoms toward the alkane is not observed in simulations of the pristine octane/water interface using TIP4P/2005.94 Sum-frequency spectroscopy reveals a strong orientation with the OH groups pointing toward the surface at quartz/water interfaces,⁹⁵ silica/water interfaces⁹⁶ and zwitter-ionic lipid membranes,^{97,98} as well as alkane/water and PDMS/water interfaces,⁹⁹ yet the contribution from the reverse orientation observed at the vapor/water interface, as well as in the simulations at silica and hexane, is typically absent. The reason for these inconsistencies is unclear. Apart from the simulations at silica and hexane shown in Figure 2(C-D), the orientation of the outermost water layer with the hydrogen atoms toward the surface is reproduced in FF¹⁰⁰ and DFT^{101} simulations of phospholipids.

The presence of ions in the interfacial region can have a strong effect on the orientation profile. One ion type exhibiting adsorption to the vapor/water interface is the hydronium ion, which itself adopts a pronounced orientation at the interface.⁷⁷ Adding 2 M of HCl to the hexane–water interface gives rise to a significantly enhanced water orientation in the region of positive $\langle \cos \theta \rangle$, see Figure 2(D). This enhanced profile agrees

well with DFT-based simulations at an even higher HCl concentration of 5 M. At the silica surface, SFG spectra exhibit a strong dependence on the concentration and the nature of the cations present in the electrolyte.¹⁰² Whereas this dependence has previously been attributed to variations in the surface potential,¹⁰³ a recent combination of SFG spectroscopy and MD simulations shows that the presence of cations leads to an ion-specific change of orientation of the water molecules in the first nanometer adjacent to the surface instead.⁷⁴ Other changes to the composition of the interfacial region also modify the interfacial orientation. For example, FF MD simulations indicate that the presence of charged surfactants affects the water orientation profile at air/water and oil/water surfaces.^{76,104} Although molecules in the outer water layer maintain their orientation with the dipoles away from the aqueous phase, the orientation in the subsurface layer is sensitive to the presence of the surfactants, with the negatively charged SDS and the positively charged C12TAB having opposite effects.⁷⁶ A qualitatively similar reversal of the water orientation has been observed in SFG spectra.^{98,105} At zwitterionic lipid membranes, the water orientation can also be reversed by inverting the polarity of the headgroup, as revealed by SFG spectroscopy and FF MD simulations at DOPC and DOCPe lipids.¹⁰⁰

2.3. Interface Potential

Directly related to the interfacial orientation, an electrostatic potential drop arises across the aqueous interface. There are, however, at least two different ways in which such a potential drop can be defined. First, the potential drop can be defined as the volume-averaged electrostatic potential in the bulk water with respect to the vacuum. This potential drop, referred to as the mean inner electrostatic potential, can be evaluated experimentally using electron diffraction¹⁰⁶ or electron holography.¹⁰⁷ In these measurements, the response of the electrons in the aqueous solution to the beam electron can be neglected because of the high energy of the latter.¹⁰⁶ Second, the surface potential drop can be defined electrochemically as the potential experienced by a charged particle, such as a hydrogen or chloride ion, upon crossing the interface. In contrast to the mean electrostatic potential, the electrochemical potential includes the effect of a possibly significant perturbation of the structure of the solution due to the charged particle.

In both cases, the electrostatic potential $\psi(r)$ across the interface can be calculated from simulations by integrating the electric field E(r) between two positions r_0 and r located on opposite sides of the interface,

$$\psi(\mathbf{r}) = \psi(\mathbf{r}_0) - \int_{\mathbf{r}_0}^{\mathbf{r}} \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}') \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}' \tag{1}$$

For a more detailed insight, we split the electric field in the displacement field D(r) and the polarization density m(r),

$$\varepsilon_0 E(\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}) - \mathbf{m}(\mathbf{r}) \tag{2}$$

The polarization can be expressed as a multipole expansion

$$\boldsymbol{m}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \boldsymbol{P}_{1}(\boldsymbol{r}) - \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P}_{2}(\boldsymbol{r}) + \nabla \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P}_{3}(\boldsymbol{r}) - \dots$$
(3)

with $P_1(r)$ being the dipole density, $P_2(r)$ being the quadrupole density, etc. By inserting eqs 2 and 3 into eq 1, we find that at a planar interface in the absence of a monopole density, only two terms contribute to the potential drop across the interface: the dipole and the quadrupole. The dipolar term

is directly related to the interfacial orientation. In Figure 3(A-B), the results of FF- and DFT-based simulations of the vapor/



Figure 3. Electrostatic potential at the vapor/water interface. (A) Surface potential from force-field-based molecular dynamics simulations split into dipolar and quadrupolar terms.⁷³ (B) Surface potential from molecular dynamics simulations based on quantum density functional theory split into dipolar and higher-order terms according to eqs 1, 2 and 3.⁷³ (C) Schematic drawing of a cavity (green) solvated in bulk water. (D) Cavity potential as a function of the radial distance *r* from the center of a cavity formed by a helium atom using FF- and quantum DFT-based molecular dynamics simulations.⁷³

water interface show that the dipole contribution is positive, which is associated with molecules pointing their hydrogen atoms toward the aqueous phase.^{73,108} Despite the outer layer being oriented in the opposite direction, pointing with the hydrogen atoms toward the vapor, the molecules oriented with their hydrogens toward the water phase dominate the dipolar contribution to the potential because the water molecules in the subsurface layer are more numerous. The value of the dipole contribution is 0.24 V in the FF simulations. In DFTbased MD simulations, the dipole contribution is calculated from the positions of the nuclei and the Wannier centers of the electron distribution. The resulting value of 0.54 V is considerably higher than the value found in the FF simulations,⁷³ which is directly related to the more pronounced orientation profile shown in Figure 2(B). The quadrupole density $P_2(\mathbf{r})$ is related to the intramolecular charge distribution and the density of water molecules and is also nonzero in bulk water. In FF-based MD simulations, the quadrupole density is negative and larger than the dipole contribution at the vapor/water interface, see Figure 3(A), and at diamond/water surfaces.¹⁰⁸ The contribution from higherorder terms in the DFT-based simulations, obtained by subtracting the dipole contribution from the total potential, is also significantly larger than the dipole contribution but positive, see Figure 3(B). We will discuss this stark difference between DFT- and FF-based MD simulations below. Apart from dominating the total potential difference, the quadrupole contribution is of primary importance for the interfacial structure. For pure dipoles, for example, there is no energetic difference between a molecular orientation with the hydrogens pointing toward or away from the water phase at the vapor/ water interface because the squared electric field around the dipole is independent of the dipole orientation. Adding the quadrupole term decreases the squared field strength on one side of the molecule while increasing it on the other side, which in combination with a dielectric discontinuity leads to a preferential orientation.

To calculate the mean inner potential difference between the vapor and the water bulk, $\psi(r)$ and $\psi(r_0)$ are averaged over planes parallel to the interface located at z_v and z_w in the vapor and water bulk phases, respectively. Importantly, electron scattering also probes the inner-atomic regions of the water molecules, so the high positive and negative charge densities inside the atoms need to be included in the average. Therefore, calculating the potential difference from all-electron quantum density functional theory is expected to produce an accurate estimate of the mean inner potential difference. The total electrostatic potential extracted from our DFT MD simulations of the vapor/water interface gives a value of $\psi(z_w) - \psi(z_v) = 4.35 \pm 0.06$ V, see Figure 3(B).⁷³ Other literature values range from 3.1 to 4.3 V.^{109–111} Recent measurements of the mean inner potential based on electron holography give 3.5 V in a water droplet¹¹² and 4.48 V at the vapor/water interface,¹¹³ which is indeed close to the values extracted from DFT MD simulations.

To calculate the electrochemical potential difference, the point r in eq 1 is located inside a particle. Important differences with the calculation of the mean inner potential are that the water's inner-atomic regions are inaccessible to the particle and that the particle creates a second interface when immersed in the bulk water. As water molecules exhibit an anisotropic orientation also around an uncharged particle, this second interface gives rise to an additional potential difference.^{38,114} The potential difference between the vacuum and the interior of a particle in the bulk can therefore be split into a potential drop across the unperturbed vapor/water interface and a potential drop across the solvation shell of the particle, see Figure 1(A). When adding the two terms, the contributions from the inner-atomic regions cancel out, so also FF MD simulations are expected to be able to produce a good estimate of the electrochemical potential difference. For the first of the two terms, the potential drop across the unperturbed vapor/ water interface, FF MD simulations yield $\psi(z_w) - \psi(z_v) =$ -0.60 ± 0.002 V for SPC/E water,⁷³ equal to the value obtained in other recent simulations.¹¹⁴ Other water force fields give rather different values: -0.13 V for TIP4P¹¹⁵ and -0.52 V for TIP3P.¹¹⁶ For comparison, the potential difference at the vapor/water interface has been calculated from DFT simulations, averaging over a volume in the bulk fluid excluding regions of high electron density.¹¹⁰ Depending on the exclusion cutoff, this procedure reduces the calculated potential difference from large positive values to -0.3 V, which is in the same range as the values from the FF MD simulations. This calculation confirms that the difference between the FFand DFT-based interfacial potential drop originates in the higher-order multipole moments of the inner-atomic regions and is irrelevant for ion distributions and electrochemical applications.

For the second part of the electrochemical potential difference, the potential drop across the solvation shell of a particle, the potential is calculated as a function of the radial coordinate r with the origin inside a cavity formed by a helium atom solvated in water, see Figure 3(C). Figure 3(D) shows the resulting potential $\psi(r)$ calculated using FF- and DFT-based MD simulations. The DFT MD yields a potential drop

of $\psi(r_w) - \psi(r_c) = 4.56 \pm 0.08$ V, with $r_c = 0$ denoting the position at the center of the cavity and r_w denoting a position in the water at a large radial distance from r_c . In the FF MD, the potential drop across the solvation shell of the helium atom equals $\psi(r_w) - \bar{\psi}(r_c) = -0.40 \pm 0.003$ V, which is similar to the values of -0.3575 to -0.4057 V obtained for cavities of the size ranging from sodium to iodide ions.¹¹⁴ Adding the contributions from the vapor/water and the cavity/water interface and using $\psi(r_w) = \psi(z_w)$, we find for the electrochemical potential difference between the center of the cavity and the vacuum $\psi(r_c) - \psi(z_v) = -0.20 \pm 0.004$ V for the FF-based MD simulations and $\psi(r_c) - \psi(z_v) = -0.2 \pm$ 0.1 V for the DFT-based simulations.⁷³ The good agreement between these values indicates that the two methods produce similar electrostatic structures, despite the 10% higher density of water in equilibrium with its vapor in the DFT simulations compared with the FF-based simulations and the difference in dipolar orientation at the interface shown in Figure 2(B).

As an alternative approach to calculating the potential drop across the solvation shell, the potential felt by an ion can be calculated based on free energy calculations. For an ion of the size of chloride in bulk water, the electrostatic part of the solvation free energy is calculated from a thermodynamic integration in FF MD simulations.¹¹⁷ Schematic representations of a cation and an anion solvated in water are shown in Figure 4(A). In Figure 4(B) we show the Coulombic part of the free energy of an ion in bulk water, $F_{\rm C}^{bulk}$, as a function of the ionic charge q. Instead of being a purely quadratic function of q as predicted by the Born solvation theory, the curve is asymmetric around q = 0, indicating a favorable solvation of anions.¹²⁰⁻¹²² The asymmetric free energy for monovalent cations and anions is reproduced using the dielectric response from the atomic correlation functions, where the atomic correlation functions are obtained from integral equation theory.³⁸ To model the asymmetry, the electrostatic part of the free energy is expanded in terms of the ionic charge q as

$$F_{\rm C}(z) = \varphi(z)q + A(z)q^2 + B(z)q^3 + C(z)q^4 + \dots$$
(4)

The first term comes from the electrostatic potential drop across the solvation shell, and the second term comes from the Born solvation free energy. The higher-order terms in the expansion are caused by the nonlinear effect of the charge on the molecular structure of the solvation shell, with the uneven terms reflecting the systematic differences in the solvation of cations and anions. More specifically, the nonlinearity is caused by reorientation of the water molecules, which is an uneven function of the ion charge, and translational distortion of the solvent structure (electrostriction), which is an even function of the ion charge. Electronic polarization, which is absent in the simulations, is not considered here. Fitting the curve in Figure 4(B) with the expression of eq 4 yields the parameters ϕ , A, B and C in bulk, where the dependence on z has been dropped. The fit gives a potential inside the cavity of $\phi = 0.4$ V with respect to the averaged potential outside the cavity, in agreement with $\psi(r_c) - \psi(r_w) = 0.4$ V calculated above.

To estimate the electrochemical potential difference felt by an ion as a function of the distance to the interface, the free energy $F_{\rm C}(z)$ is calculated while restraining a chloride ion at a fixed position *z* relative to the interface. The fit values obtained by fitting eq 4 are shown in Figure 4(C) at the vapor/water interface and in Figure 4(E) at the graphene/water interface, multiplied by powers of the unit charge *e* to be able to plot all prefactors on the same scale. The potential drop across the



Figure 4. Solvation free energy from FF MD simulations. (A) Sketch of finite-sized particles with charge q in bulk water. The particle corresponds to Cl^- when q = -1e, and apart from the charge the particle does not change when q is increased to +1e. (B) Electrostatic energy of the particle in bulk water as a function of its charge q fitted with eq 4.¹¹⁷ (C–F) Terms of the polynomial fit according to eq 4 as a function of the distance to the Gibbs dividing surface z_{GDS} at (C, D) the vapor/water interface¹¹⁸ and (E, F) the graphene/water interface.¹¹⁷ The potential drop across the solvation shell is denoted by $\phi(z)$, A(z) is the prefactor of the Born solvation and B(z) and C(z) are nonlinear terms. The bulk value $A(z_w)$ is shown as a broken red line. In panels (D) and (F), we show the interface potentials $\psi(z)$ without particle¹¹⁹ (also shown in Figure 3(A) for the vapor/water interface), together with the fitted potentials $\phi(z)$ inside the particle. For the boundary condition on the right-hand side of the figure, the electrostatic potential $\psi(z_w)$ in the unperturbed bulk water has been set to zero, which means that $\phi(z_w) = 0.4$ V equals the bulk cavity potential.

solvation shell equals $\phi(z_w)e = 15k_BT$ at the bulk water position z_w in both cases, corresponding to $\phi(z_w) = 0.4$ V when the cavity is in bulk water, but the behavior near the interface depends strongly on the interface type, reflecting differences in the interfacial structure, spatial extent and rigidity. The Born solvation term equals $A(z_w)e^2 = -110k_BT$ in bulk and rises strongly in the interfacial region, reflecting the image charge repulsion that we will discuss in section 4.1. The observed variation of the nonlinear terms B(z) and C(z) when the ion approaches the interface, see Figures 4(C) and (E), can only be caused by the interaction between the induced field around the ion and the interfacial water structure. Since B(z) is the prefactor of an uneven function of q, the variation of B(z)accounts for the interaction between the water orientation around the ion and the interfacial ordering.¹¹⁹ Through the same logic, the change of C(z) is due to the interaction between the translational distortion of the hydration shell and the interfacial ordering. As can be seen in Figures 4(C) and (E), the variation of C(z) is qualitatively different indeed for solid and soft interfaces.¹¹⁹ The potential $\phi(z)$ felt by the ion,

shown in Figures 4(D) and (F), shows a dramatic difference to the interface potential in the absence of the cavity, $\psi(z)$. In particular, the strong variations of $\psi(z)$ in the interfacial region are absent in $\phi(z)$. Regarding the potential shown in Figure 4(D), note that ions evaporating from the water to the vapor, or to other liquid phases, typically drag a part of their solvation shell with them, ¹²³⁻¹²⁵ leading to large variations of the calculated $\phi(z)$ at $z - z_{\text{GDS}} < -1$ nm.^{119,126}

In summary, considering the potential drop across the solvation shell of an ion shows that the electrochemical potential drop across the interface, $\phi(z_w) - \phi(z_v)$, is significantly smaller than the mean inner potential difference as measured by electron diffraction and holography or calculated from DFT MD simulations. The electrochemical potential is also smaller than the potential drop calculated from FF MD simulations without cavity contribution. In contrast to linear electrostatic theory, the electrostatic free energy $F_c(z)$ comprises the cavity potential term $\phi(z)q$, the Born term $A(z)q^2$ and nonlinear contributions, all depending sensitively on the interface type.

3. CONTINUUM DESCRIPTION OF INTERFACIAL WATER

The molecular structure of the interfacial water layer discussed in the previous sections has a decisive influence on the electric double layer, and therefore on the thermodynamics, electrokinetics and hydrodynamics of macroscopic objects in solution. Yet many of these properties, such as the electrophoretic mobility of macroscopic colloids, the disjoining pressure between objects in solution, but also the surface tension at very low ion or surfactant concentration, are prohibitively expensive to simulate using molecular simulations. Therefore, a continuum description is paramount to use the results of the molecular dynamics simulations at macroscopic time and length scales. Using the Poisson equation for the electrostatics and the Stokes equation for the hydrodynamics, incorporating the molecular structure into the continuum description comes down to determining the dielectric and viscous response functions, as well as the nonelectrostatic interaction between ions and surfaces.

3.1. Dielectric Profile

Considering the restrictions imposed by a solid interface on the hydrogen bond network, a sharp decrease of the interfacial dielectric response has been predicted analytically.²³ A local dielectric profile has been defined based on the nonlocal linear response tensor linking small increments of the electric and displacement fields.^{31,127} In molecular dynamics simulations, the local dielectric response tensor can be calculated from the response to a finite electric field^{127,128} or from the fluctuations of the polarization, which we will focus on here. Using a simulation volume V containing an interface with a normal vector in z direction, the inverse local dielectric profile perpendicular to the interface is calculated from¹²⁹

$$\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) = 1 - \frac{\langle m_{\perp,0}(z)M_{\perp,0} \rangle - \langle m_{\perp,0}(z) \rangle \langle M_{\perp,0} \rangle}{\varepsilon_0 k_B T + (\langle M_{\perp,0}^2 \rangle - \langle M_{\perp,0} \rangle^2)/V}$$
(5)

with $m_{\perp,0}(z)$ and $M_{\perp,0}$ being the polarization density at position z and the total polarization, respectively, perpendicular to the interface in the absence of an applied field. The second term in the denominator is caused by the periodic boundary conditions in z direction.¹³⁰ Specifically, if a

displacement field arises in z direction, the ensuing polarization M_{\perp} of the periodic images modifies the electric field. If the electrostatic periodic boundary conditions are turned off in z direction, using two-dimensional Ewald summation, for example, the second term in the denominator vanishes.¹²⁷

Using eq 5, the predicted decrease of the interfacial dielectric response has been reproduced in FF MD simulations of pure water at uncharged surfaces.^{108,127} We show the inverse dielectric profiles of different solid and soft surfaces in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Perpendicular dielectric profiles at different solid and soft interfaces as a function of the distance with respect to the Gibbs dividing surface z_{GDS} . Liquid water is on the right-hand side in each panel. The water dielectric profile for SPC/E converges to $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z_w) = \varepsilon_{bulk}^{-1} = 1/70$, calculated as the average of the curve shown in the magnification in (A). Hydrophobic surfaces are shown in panels (A–D), and hydrophilic surfaces are shown in panels (E–H). Black solid lines indicate the position of the oxygen atoms of the surface OH groups at the hydrophilic solids and the position of the outermost carbon atoms at the hydrophobic solids. The dielectric dividing surface z_{\perp}^{DDS} is shown as a broken black line. All partial charges in the fluid and the substrate are included in the calculation of the dielectric response. Data for each panel are from the indicated reference: (A), ¹²⁶ (B, G), ¹³¹ (C), ¹¹⁸ (D, F), ¹⁰⁸ (E)¹³² and (H).⁷⁵ Except for panel (E), where TIP3P has been used, the curves have been obtained from simulations using the SPC/E water model.

For all surfaces, except possibly the glycolipids and the airwater interface, $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$ reverses sign several times. That means that the excess electric field vanishes where $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$ reaches zero and has the reverse sign in the regions where $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) < 0$, giving rise to several local minima in the electrostatic potential resulting from an applied external field. Regions of negative dielectric response, referred to as overscreening, are also found in the nonlocal dielectric function of bulk water.²⁶ The effects of overscreening have also been observed in FF MD simulations of monovalent salt solutions at moderately charged silica surfaces¹³³ and in classical density functional theory. The oscillatory features are very clearly visible at solid surfaces, whereas the dielectric profiles are smeared out at soft surfaces. The difference is partially caused by the fact that the dielectric profiles are convoluted with the interfacial density profiles due to capillary fluctuations. We attribute the pronounced oscillations at the graphene surface to the fact that its interface is atomically flat, in contrast to the other solid surfaces. In particular, the hydrophilic diamond surface features protruding hydroxide groups, and the silica surface consists of alternating silicon and oxygen atoms as well as hydroxide groups. Classical density functional theory has shown that smearing over the size of about 0.25 nm is already sufficient to suppress the oscillations in the ion density and hydration force resulting from the nonlocal dielectric response.⁶³

The parallel dielectric profile is calculated from^{127,130,134}

$$\varepsilon_{\parallel}(z) = 1 + \frac{\langle m_{\parallel,0}(z)M_{\parallel,0}\rangle - \langle m_{\parallel,0}(z)\rangle\langle M_{\parallel,0}\rangle}{\varepsilon_0 k_{\rm B}T} \tag{6}$$

with $m_{\parallel}(z)$ being the polarization density in the direction parallel to the interface. In contrast to the perpendicular dielectric profile, the profiles of $\varepsilon_{\parallel}(z)$ show that the parallel dielectric response is enhanced close to solid surfaces.^{108,131} The enhancement partially reflects the increased density of polar molecules, but also the effective water polarizability of the interfacial layer varies, depending on the surface type. In particular, whereas water at hydrophilic diamond surfaces exhibits a slight decrease of the parallel polarizability, the polarizability is enhanced at hydrophobic diamond surfaces¹⁰⁸ and shows a giant increase inside carbon nanotubes.¹³⁵

3.2. Box Profile of the Dielectric Constant

To simplify the description of the interfacial dielectric properties and to allow for analytical treatments, ^{136–139} the dielectric profile can be modeled using a box profile. The box profile is designed to reproduce electrostatic potential differences across the interface on the macroscopic scale, whereas the microscopic dielectric details are lost in exchange for simplicity,

$$\varepsilon_{i}^{*}(z) = \begin{cases} \varepsilon_{int} & \text{for } z_{\nu} < z < z_{i}^{\text{DDS}} \\ \varepsilon_{bulk} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(7)

with *i* being one of \perp or \parallel and z_{ν} being a position in the nonaqueous phase. Either the interfacial dielectric constant ε_{int} or the dielectric dividing surface z_i^{DDS} is a free parameter. Choosing, for example, $\varepsilon_{int} = 1$ unambiguously defines z_i^{DDS} at the vapor/water interface, whereas setting z_i^{DDS} at a solid surface defines the effective dielectric constant of the interfacial layer. The requirement for the construction of the box profile is that the potential difference between the surface and a point in the fluid far away from the interface is the same when using either the box profile or the full dielectric profile. That leads to the definition of the dielectric dividing surface

$$z_i^{\text{DDS}} = z_v + \int_{z_v}^{z_w} \frac{f(z_w) - f(z)}{f(z_w) - f(z_v)} \,\mathrm{d}z \tag{8}$$

with z_{ν} and z_{w} being positions in the nonaqueous and aqueous phases, respectively. For the parallel dielectric dividing surface, we take $f(z) = \varepsilon_{\parallel}(z)$, while for the perpendicular dielectric dividing surface we take $f(z) = \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$. Note that eq 8 is

equivalent to the definition of the Gibbs dividing surface z_{GDS} , where the water density is used for f(z), yet the position of the dielectric dividing surface typically does not coincide with the Gibbs dividing surface. The deviation between the two surface positions defines the interfacial dielectric excess and depends on the nature of the interface. In Figure 5, the dielectric dividing surface positions z_{\perp}^{DDS} are shown as broken black lines. For the nonpolarizable solid surfaces, graphene and hydrophilic and hydrophobic diamond, z_{\perp}^{DDS} is close to z_{GDS} , yet there are small differences between the hydrophilic and the more hydrophobic surfaces. In particular, z_{\perp}^{DDS} > z_{GDS} at the hydrophilic diamond surface, meaning that the interfacial water layer is less polarizable than expected based on the number density of water molecules, whereas the opposite situation is found at the hydrophobic diamond surface and the weakly interacting graphene. At the lipid interfaces and at silica, which are polarizable surfaces, the position of the dielectric dividing surface is determined to a large extent by the polarizability of the interfacial hydrophilic groups. Oil/water and vapor/water interfaces show almost identical dielectric behavior, as has been observed previously in simulations using united atoms.¹⁴⁰

Using the dielectric profile based on the dielectric dividing surface of eq 7 as an alternative to using the complete dielectric profile, the interfacial capacitance of a large number of different surfaces can be accurately reproduced.^{108,127} For the scaling of the electrokinetic mobility with the bare surface charge density, the use of a layer of low dielectric constant as modeled by eq 7 is actually crucial to reproduce the experimental data.^{137,141,142} The two dividing surface positions for the response parallel and perpendicular to the surface are also important for the calculation of the image charge repulsion of ions at a dielectric boundary, as will be discussed in section 4.1.

3.3. Effective Dielectric Constant between Two Surfaces

To analytically calculate interactions between solutes and to compare to experiments, the dielectric profiles have to be replaced by effective dielectric constants of the medium where the measurement takes place. The effective dielectric constant between an uncharged atomic force microscope probe and a mica surface has been found to decrease over much larger distances than the roughly 1 nm suggested by simulations.¹⁴⁴ Similarly, the effective dielectric constant of water films between cleaved mica platelets has been found to decrease over distances of the order of micrometers.¹⁴⁵ More recently, the same effect has been measured between graphene surfaces.¹⁴³

To understand these results, we model the effective dielectric medium as a number of homogeneous dielectric materials in series, which for water between identical nonpolarizable surfaces becomes

$$\varepsilon_{\perp}^{*}(z) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } |z| > L_{\perp}^{eff}/2 \\ \varepsilon_{\perp}^{eff}, & \text{for } |z| \le L_{\perp}^{eff}/2 \end{cases}$$
(9)

see Figure 6(A). To calculate the effective dielectric constant $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{eff}$ of the medium, we require the electrostatic potential difference across the interfaces to be identical to the one calculated from the dielectric profile $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$. The relation between the perpendicular electric field increment $\delta E_{\perp}(z)$ and the displacement field increment δD_{\perp} reads

$$\delta E_{\perp}(z) = \varepsilon_0^{-1} \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) \delta D_{\perp}$$
⁽¹⁰⁾



Figure 6. Effective perpendicular dielectric constant between two graphene sheets. (A) Approximate dielectric profile, eq 9. The distance between the graphene sheets is denoted by L. (B) Dielectric profile for L = 3 nm, with the saturated central part highlighted by the orange rectangle. The distance between the graphene sheet (solid black lines) and the dielectric dividing surface z_{\perp}^{DDS} (broken black lines) is denoted by λ_{e^*} (C) $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{eff}$ calculated using eq 12,¹³¹ compared to experiments. 143 In the experiments, \boldsymbol{L} is measured using atomic force microscopy. For the calculated curves, we use $L_1^{eff} = L - 2\lambda_{ef}$ which is the appropriate parametrization of eq 9 if $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{eff} = \varepsilon_{bulk}$ as well as $L_{\perp}^{eff} = L$ + 0.3 nm, which is determined by a fit to the experimental data. The diamond symbols are calculated from simulations in slits of width L_{r}^{131} whereas the lines for L > 3 nm are calculated by inserting a bulk section with $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1} = 1/70$ in the center of the simulated profile obtained at L = 3 nm. The orange squares show the dielectric constant in the center of the box calculated by averaging the dielectric profile over the central part of the box as indicated by the orange rectangle in panel (B).

with the electric field increment given by $\delta E_{\perp}(z) = -\nabla_z \delta \psi(z)$. Integrating from -L/2 to L/2 using the dielectric profile $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$ and using the effective profile of eq 9 yields

$$\frac{\delta\psi(L/2) - \delta\psi(-L/2)}{\varepsilon_0^{-1}\delta D_{\perp}} = -\int_{-L/2}^{L/2} \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) dz$$
$$= -L_{\perp}^{\text{eff}} (\varepsilon_{\perp}^{\text{eff}})^{-1} - L + L_{\perp}^{\text{eff}}$$
(11)

Solving for $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{e\!f\!f}$ gives

$$\varepsilon_{\perp}^{\text{eff}} = L_{\perp}^{\text{eff}} \left(\int_{-L/2}^{L/2} \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) \, \mathrm{d}z + L_{\perp}^{\text{eff}} - L \right)^{-1}$$
(12)

Now there are different questions we may ask. The first one is what is the dielectric constant in the interior of the water slab depending on the slit width L? For L > 3 nm, where the dielectric constant is found to saturate in the center of the channel, this dielectric constant can be calculated directly from the simulations by averaging over the central part of the simulation box as indicated by the orange rectangle in Figure 6(B). The orange squares in Figure 6(C) show that the effective dielectric constant in the center of the water slab for 3 < L < 10 nm is equal to the bulk value of $\varepsilon_{bulk} = 70$. Clearly, inserting $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{eff} = \varepsilon_{bulk}$ into eq 12 and using the definition of the dielectric dividing surface, eq 8, we find $L_{\perp}^{eff} = L - 2\lambda_{e}$, with λ_{e} = 0.15 nm being the distance between the graphene sheet and the dielectric dividing surface, see Figure 6(B). Using this value for L_{\perp}^{eff} , we can also calculate $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{eff}$ for L < 3 nm from the simulated profiles,¹³¹ showing a decrease only for L < 1.4 nm (Figure 6(C), green diamonds). The second question we may ask is what is the effective dielectric constant of the medium between two electrodes? This is the value measured in experiments, 143,145 and it is equal to $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{e\!f\!f}$ if $L_{\perp}^{e\!f\!f}$ is set equal to the distance between the electrodes. Excellent agreement with the

experimental results is obtained for $L_{\perp}^{eff} = L + 0.3$ nm (Figure 6(C), blue diamonds). To calculate the blue curve in Figure 6(C) for values of *L* exceeding 3 nm, the dielectric profiles have been constructed by extending the 3 nm profile with a region of $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1} = 1/70$ in the center. Since we would expect $L_{\perp}^{eff} = L$ if the electrodes are located at the position of the simulated graphene sheets, these results suggest a mismatch between the simulated width *L* and the width L_{\perp}^{eff} fitting the experiments corresponding to the size of one or two layers of water.

In summary, FF MD simulations indicate that the dielectric constant in the interior of water confined in a slit is equal to the bulk dielectric constant down to a slit width of L = 1.4 nm. FF MD simulations and experiments agree that the effective dielectric constant between two electrodes exhibits a decrease over much larger length scales, but to obtain quantitative agreement for a graphene slit we have to assume that the effective slit width used in the analysis of the experiments is 0.3 nm wider than the simulated slit width. This slight disagreement could be caused, for example, by incomplete filling or the presence of small amounts of low-dielectric solutes near the electrodes in the experiments. Alternatively, we cannot exclude force field issues in the FF MD modeling as a possible cause.

3.4. Viscosity and Surface Slip

The hydrodynamic properties of the electric double layer are closely related to the density and the electrostatic structure discussed in the previous sections. Because of the local density variations, the modified hydrogen bond structure and the molecular orientation, the local effective viscosity in the interfacial layer is expected to deviate from the bulk value.⁵⁴ Direct measurements of friction forces show that the interfacial effective viscosity strongly depends on the hydrophilicity of the surface. The interfacial effective viscosity is enhanced compared to the bulk at hydrophilic silica and mica surfaces^{146,147} but not at C and CH₃-terminated surfaces.¹⁴⁶ Also ultrasonic measurements show an enhanced interfacial effective viscosity at hydrophilic Al₂O₃ surfaces⁶⁶ and a reduced effective viscosity at hydrophobic alkane–water interfaces.¹⁴⁸ Conflicting results have been reported for the vapor/water interface.^{149–151}

The effects of different interface types on the local effective viscosity profile have been reproduced in FF MD simulations.^{59,68,132,153} In the simulations, velocity profiles $u_{\parallel}(z)$ are generated in a fluid slab between two surfaces by either shearing the surfaces or, in the presence of ions in the fluid, by applying a parallel electric field. The Stokes equation for flow along a planar surface, using lateral invariance, reads

$$0 = \nabla \Pi_{\|z}(z) - \xi(z)u_{\|}(z) + f_{\|}(z)$$
(13)

with $\Pi(z)$ being the shear stress tensor, $\xi(z)$ being the surface friction coefficient and $f_{\parallel}(z)$ being the external body force density. Before atomistic molecular dynamics simulations were available, the surface friction was extracted from solvent-implicit simulations,¹⁵⁴ yet because molecular dynamics simulations show that the surface friction does not modify the effective viscosity profile significantly,¹⁵² we set $\xi(z) = 0$ in the following.

In the shearing simulations, forces F_{\parallel} and $-F_{\parallel}$ are applied to two solid surfaces, each with surface area A, to create a shear profile in the fluid in between. To define the local effective viscosity profile, we start from the linear response relation for the nonlocal inverse viscous response function $\eta_{nl}^{-1}(z_{l}z')$,

$$\nabla u_{\parallel}(z) = \int \eta_{nl}^{-1}(z, z') \Pi_{\parallel z}(z') \, \mathrm{d}z' \tag{14}$$

neglecting any possible dependence on the lateral coordinates and time. Integrating eq 13 once over z we find

$$0 = \Pi_{\parallel z}(z) + \int_{-\infty}^{z} f_{\parallel}(z') \, \mathrm{d}z'$$
(15)

If the surface-fluid interactions act over a vanishingly small range, the second term on the right-hand side of eq 15 equals F_{\parallel}/A for z inside the fluid, which means that $\Pi_{\parallel z}(z)$ is independent of z.¹⁵² Inserting this into eq 14 leads to the definition of the local viscous response function $\eta(z)$,

$$\frac{1}{\eta(z)} = \int \eta_{nl}^{-1}(z, z') \, \mathrm{d}z' \tag{16}$$

The Stokes equation for the shear simulations becomes

$$0 = \eta(z) \nabla u_{\parallel}(z) + F_{\parallel}/A \tag{17}$$

In Figure 7(A), we show simulation results for $\eta(z)$ at the hydrophilic diamond surface, modeled by an OH-terminated



Figure 7. Effective viscosity profile at uncharged hydrophilic surfaces. (A) Simulations of an OH terminated diamond surface in contact with pure SPC/E water, which has $\eta_{bulk} = 0.64$ mPa·s,⁵⁹ compared to the experimental effective viscosity profile at Al₂O₃.⁶⁶ (B) Simulations of a zwitterionic POPC membrane in contact with a 0.44 M NaCl solution (CHARMM 36 membranes and ions with TIP3P water)¹³² and a self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of alcohol chains in pure water (GROMOS 53A6 with SPC/E water) at a separation of 4.27 nm.¹⁵² The bulk viscosity of the TIP3P water model is $\eta_{bulk} = 0.321$ mPa·s. The simulated profiles have been fit using $\eta/\eta_{bulk} = C \exp(-z/\lambda_{\eta}) + 1$, with C being a constant, giving $\lambda_{\eta} = 0.29$ nm at the hydrophilic solid, $\lambda_{\eta} = 0.27$ nm at the SAM and $\lambda_{\eta} = 0.39$ nm at the phospholipid bilayer membrane.

diamond (solid line).⁵⁹ The effective viscosity profiles are normalized by the bulk viscosity η_{bulk} . The effective viscosity increases steeply at the surface, reaching over four times the bulk value, in agreement with experiments (symbols).⁶⁶ A similar profile is found in shear simulations of a self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of alcohol chains, shown as symbols in Figure 7(B).¹⁵² Fitting a heuristic exponential function to the simulated effective viscosity profile gives a characteristic length scale of $\lambda_{\eta} = 0.29$ nm at the solid surface and $\lambda_{\eta} = 0.27$ nm at the SAM, equivalent to about one molecular diameter.

As an alternative to shearing, the viscosity can be calculated from electrokinetic flow. In the presence of surface charges or preferentially adsorbing ions, a tangential electric field E_{\parallel} induces an electrokinetic flow profile $u_{\parallel}(z)$. Combining the Poisson and Stokes equations and the definition of the local effective viscosity in eq 16,^{132,141} the effective viscosity profile is calculated from

$$\eta(z)\nabla u_{\parallel}(z) = -E_{\parallel}D_{\perp}(z) \tag{18}$$

which has been applied to simulations of a 0.44 M NaCl solution at a phospholipid membrane to calculate $\eta(z)$.¹³² As shown in Figure 7(B), the effective viscosity at the lipid membrane shows a similarly steep increase as the viscosity at the hydrophilic diamond surface. Fitting the simulation data with an exponential function yields a characteristic length scale of $\lambda_{\eta} = 0.39$ nm, slightly larger than at the solid surface, which we attribute primarily to the more diffuse nature of the water/membrane interface.

pubs.acs.org/CR

At hydrophobic surfaces, the behavior is more complicated. Instead of an enhanced interfacial density profile, the interface at hydrophobic surfaces exhibits a density gap,^{65,140} leading to reduced friction.^{153,155,156} The effective viscosity at a hydrophobic surface consisting of a regular array of silicon atoms is calculated using FF MD simulations by shearing a layer of SPC/E water between two surfaces, see Figure 8(A). The



Figure 8. Density of water and ions and velocity profiles at hydrophobic, nonpolar silicon surfaces with different surface charge densities σ .⁶⁸ The bulk salt concentration equals 1.7 M. (A) Simulation snapshots; chloride ions are shown in orange, sodium ions in blue, uncharged silicon atoms in gray and charged silicon in yellow. Not all water molecules are shown. (B) Densities of sodium (blue), chloride (orange) and water oxygen (red) normalized by their bulk densities. The solid vertical lines denote the position of the surface atoms, the dashed lines denote the boundary of the inner Helmholtz layer corresponding to the position of the first water peak, and the dotted lines denote the outer boundary of the outer Helmholtz layer corresponding to the second water peak. (C) Electrolyte velocity profiles $u_{\parallel}(z)$ (blue) in shear simulations with a surface velocity of 50 m/s. In red, we show the linear extrapolation of the velocity profile in the outer Helmholtz layer.

surface charge density of the surfaces is increased from zero to $\sigma = -2e/\text{nm}^2$. The density profiles of water and ions for three different values of σ are shown in Figure 8(B). At low and moderate surface charge densities ($|\sigma| < 1e/\text{nm}^{268}$), the first peak of counterions is located between the first two peaks of the water density, which means that the ions are fully hydrated. Therefore, we define the region between the first and second water peaks as the outer Helmholtz layer. At high surface charge density ($|\sigma| > 1e/\text{nm}^2$), counterions start accumulating between the surface and the first water peak, meaning that the

ions have lost a part of their hydration shell. We define the region between the surface and the first water peak as the inner Helmholtz layer. The region outside the Helmholtz layers is defined as the diffuse layer.

3.5. Box Profile of the Effective Viscosity

Figure 8(C) shows a portion of the velocity profiles $u_{\parallel}(z)$ between two nonpolar silicon surfaces at a separation of 4.84 nm moving in the opposite direction with velocities of $u_{\parallel}^s = \pm 50 \text{ m/s}$.⁶⁸ Below a surface charge density of about $|\sigma| = 1e/\text{ nm}^2$, the hydrodynamics near the interface are characterized by slip along the surface, violating the no-slip boundary condition, as observed previously for hydrophobic surfaces.¹⁵⁷ The hydrodynamic boundary condition can be modeled effectively using a slip length *b*,

$$b\nabla u_{\parallel}|_{z_s} = u_{\parallel}(z_s) - u_{\parallel}^s \tag{19}$$

where z_s refers to the surface position, indicated by solid black lines in Figure 8(B–C). Graphically, this procedure comes down to linearly extrapolating the shear velocity profile near the interface to u_{\parallel}^s , see Figure 8(C). Because, when populated, the inner Helmholtz layer is hydrodynamically stagnant, as we will show later, we extrapolate the velocity profile in the outer Helmholtz layer instead to calculate *b*. The extrapolation provides both the slip length and the average effective viscosity of the outer Helmholtz layer. In Figure 9(A) we show *b* as a



Figure 9. Slip length and effective viscosity at a hydrophobic surface as a function of the surface charge density σ .⁶⁸ (A) Slip length *b* (red symbols, left axis) calculated from the extrapolation of the shear velocity in the outer Helmholtz layer, see Figure 8. Also shown are the positions of the first and second water density peaks with respect to the surface position z_s (orange lines, right axis), defining the boundaries of the inner and outer Helmholtz layers. When the slip length is negative, *b* defines the position of the no-slip plane, coinciding with the boundary of the inner Helmholtz layer for high $|\sigma|$. (B) Viscosity of the outer Helmholtz layer and the diffuse layer as a function of the surface charge density.

function of σ together with the position of the surface and water peak positions that define the inner and outer Helmholtz layers. The slip length is positive at the uncharged surface, as confirmed in experiments at hydrophobic uncharged surfaces.^{158,159} The behavior at the uncharged silicon surface shown here is similar to the behavior at the uncharged diamond surface.^{59,153} With increasing magnitude of the surface charge density, the slip length decreases, as observed in simulations previously,¹⁶⁰ eventually turning negative. A negative slip length means that a layer of fluid is rigidly stuck to the surface, and the no-slip boundary condition moves from $z = z_s$ to $z = z_s$ -b. As soon as the space between the surface and the first water peak is populated with ions, which is the case for $|\sigma| >$ $1e/nm^2$, the no-slip boundary condition is located at or near the boundary between the inner and outer Helmholtz layers, see Figure 9(A), showing that the inner Helmholtz layer is indeed hydrodynamically stagnant.

Fitting the remaining velocity profile (ensuring continuity at the boundary between the diffuse layer and the outer Helmholtz layer) also provides the effective viscosity of the diffuse layer. Figure 9(B) shows the effective viscosity of the outer Helmholtz layer and the diffuse layer.⁶⁸ Independent of the surface charge density, the effective viscosity of the diffuse layer remains equal to the bulk viscosity η_{bulk} . In contrast, the effective viscosity of the outer Helmholtz layer increases with increasing $|\sigma|$, even though a decrease is observed at very high $|\sigma|$ because of the redistribution of ions from the outer to the inner Helmholtz layer. This leads to the definition of a box profile for the effective viscosity,

$$\eta^{*}(z, \sigma) = \begin{cases} \eta_{int}(\sigma) & \text{for } z < z^{*} \\ \eta_{bulk} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(20)

which together with the boundary condition of eq 19 determines the flow profile. For the silicon surface, z^* is located at the outer boundary of the outer Helmholtz layer and η_{int} equals the effective viscosity of the outer Helmholtz layer. By fitting the parameters, the model can equally well be used to approximate the effective viscosity profiles at hydrophilic surfaces shown in Figure 7. A box profile for the effective viscosity has been used successfully to model the electrokinetic mobility of charged colloids as a function of their surface charge density, ^{137,139} see section 4.6.

In summary, the effective viscosity at hydrophilic surfaces is enhanced regardless of surface charge density. In contrast, Figures 8 and 9 show that the hydrodynamics of hydrophobic surfaces changes from classical slipping behavior for uncharged surfaces, where the effective viscosity remains equal to the bulk value while the fluid slips along the wall via a combination of an enhanced interfacial effective viscosity and reduced surface slip at intermediate surface charge density, to an enhanced interfacial effective viscosity in combination with a stagnant inner Helmholtz layer at high surface charge density.

4. IONS AT CHARGED AND UNCHARGED SURFACES

To model ion distributions near interfaces, we start by considering the free energy of a single ion as a function of the distance to an uncharged surface, referred to as the potential of mean force $\Delta F(z)$. Afterward, we discuss how to incorporate the potential of mean force into mean-field theories to model single ions at charged interfaces and ion solutions at finite concentration.

4.1. Single lons at Uncharged Interfaces

The potential of mean force $\Delta F(z)$ is calculated from FF-based MD simulations using either umbrella sampling, where the free energy is calculated from the position distribution while restraining the ion at varying distances from the surface, or by thermodynamic integration, where the energy of inserting the ion at a given position is calculated.¹¹⁷ In Figure 10 we show the potentials of mean force for a number of different ions at both hydrophilic and hydrophobic surfaces. The potentials of mean force are strongly ion- and surface-specific, but some trends can be clearly distinguished. Comparing Figures 10(B-C) and (E-F) shows that a small ion like sodium adsorbs at hydrophilic interfaces but not at hydrophobic ones. A large ion like iodide, in contrast, adsorbs at the hydrophobic SAM, consisting of a restrained grid of alkanes,¹⁶² but not at the hydrophilic SAM, consisting of a restrained grid of alcohol chains. Chloride is repelled from all interfaces. The hydronium



Figure 10. Ionic potentials of mean force. (A) Snapshots of a Cl⁻ (orange) and a Na⁺ (blue) ion at a lipid membrane together with their hydration shells. Other water molecules are not shown. Na⁺ is located near the minimum of the potential of mean force, and Cl⁻ is located at 0.5 nm from the GDS, where the PMF is about $1k_BT$. Nitrogen atoms are shown in blue, and phosphor atoms are shown in bronze. (B) Corresponding potentials of mean force.¹³² (C) Potentials of mean force at a hydrophilic self-assembled monolayer.¹⁶¹ (D) Snapshot of Cl⁻ (orange) and H₃O⁺ (red and white) at the vapor/water interface. (E) Corresponding potentials of mean force.¹⁷⁷ (F) Potentials of mean force at hydrophobic self-assembled monolayers.¹⁶¹

ion, H_3O^+ , shows atypical behavior, adsorbing relatively strongly at the vapor/water interface. The adsorption has been attributed to the favorable orientation of its dipole in the interfacial electric field.⁷⁷ For monatomic ions, adsorption at the vapor/water interface has only been observed in simulations of iodide.¹⁶³

To better understand the mechanisms behind these potentials of mean force, we use thermodynamic integration to split the potentials into different contributions according to

$$\Delta F(z) = \Delta F_{\rm C}(z) + \Delta F_{\rm LJ}(z) \tag{21}$$

with $\Delta F_{LJ}(z)$ stemming from the creation of a neutral Lennard-Jones cavity and $\Delta F_{\rm C}(z)$ from charging that cavity. Note that $\Delta F_{\rm LJ}$ contains Lennard-Jones as well as Coulombic interactions, the latter originating in the necessary rearrangement of the water, just like $\Delta F_{\rm C}$ contains both Lennard-Jones and Coulomb contributions. We study the case of a chloride ion at a graphene surface as shown in Figure 11(A). As can be seen in Figure 11(B), the dominant part of the repulsion at the graphene interface comes from $\Delta F_{\rm LJ}(z)$. Apart from the strong repulsion, $\Delta F_{\rm LJ}(z)$ shows a pronounced minimum (Figure 11(B), blue broken line and triangles). By splitting $\Delta F_{\rm LJ}(z)$ further into ion–water and ion–wall contributions (see supplement of ref 117), it can be seen that the minimum in



Figure 11. Decomposition of the potential of mean force.¹¹⁷ (A) Snapshot of a chloride ion at an uncharged graphene surface. (B) Potential of mean force split into Coulomb and Lennard-Jones terms. We also show the linear Coulomb term $A(z)e^2$ relative to its bulk value $A(z_w)e^2$. (C) Anisotropic model of the dielectric environment. (D) Linear Coulomb term $A(z)e^2$ calculated for chloride from simulations (red symbols), for a point charge (green), and for a sphere with diameter d = 0.508 nm and surface charge density $\sigma = -e/(\pi d^2)$ in an isotropic (orange) and an anisotropic (blue) dielectric environment.

 $\Delta F_{\rm LJ}(z)$ is caused by the ion–wall interaction. Closer to the interface, the ion–water contribution also becomes negative due to the vanishing water density, but this contribution is negligible compared to the repulsive ion–wall interaction.¹¹⁷ Although $\Delta F_{\rm LJ}(z)$, the energy required to create a Lennard-Jones cavity, is a different quantity than the energy associated with the Lennard-Jones interactions between an ion an its environment, a region of attractive Lennard-Jones interaction is generally expected. Nevertheless, the Lennard-Jones interaction between an ion and a soft self-assembled monolayer, obtained by splitting the potential of mean force into Coulomb and Lennard-Jones contributions, has previously been found to be entirely repulsive.¹⁶²

The energy associated with charging the cavity, $\Delta F_{\rm C}(z)$ (Figure 11(B), red solid line and squares), is largely repulsive but dominates only in a very small region near the surface. To analyze the Coulomb contribution in more detail, we express it as an expansion in terms of the ion charge q according to eq 4, as discussed in section 2.3. Assuming that the water is a linear homogeneous dielectric medium, the repulsion from a dielectric interface scales with q^2 . Therefore, to demonstrate how the simulated Coulomb contribution is related to the linear dielectric response theory, we interpret the term $A(z)q^2$ from eq 4 using different models for the dielectric environment. To keep the models analytically tractable, we describe the dielectric medium using the box models based on z_{\perp}^{DDS} and $z_{\parallel}^{\text{DDS}}$ defined in eq 8. First, we show the free energy for a point charge in an isotropic dielectric with $\varepsilon_{\perp} = \varepsilon_{\parallel} = 1$ for $z < z_{\text{GDS}}$ and $\varepsilon_{\perp} = \varepsilon_{\parallel} = 70$ otherwise, showing the well-known divergence at $z = z_{GDS}$ (Figure 11(D), green broken line). Second, the energy is calculated for a sphere with a finite diameter, the value of which is determined from the Born energy, i.e., the solvation free energy of a charged sphere in a homogeneous dielectric medium. Since the Born energy is proportional to the square of the charge, we can equate it to $A(z_w)e^2$, from which the ion diameter d follows as

$$d = \frac{1 - \varepsilon_{bulk}}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{bulk} A(z_w)}$$
(22)

giving d = 0.508 nm.¹¹⁷ The ion is modeled by a sphere with surface charge density $\sigma = -e/(\pi d^2)$ and dielectric constant inside equal to the dielectric environment outside. The free energy for this finite-sized sphere in the same isotropic dielectric environment as the one used for the point charge (ε_{\perp} = ε_{\parallel} = 1 for $z < z_{GDS}$ and $\varepsilon_{\perp} = \varepsilon_{\parallel}$ = 70 otherwise) does not diverge (Figure 11(D), orange dash-dotted line).^{117,164} However, it also fails to reproduce the simulated values of $A(z)e^2$. Third, the free energy is calculated for a finite-sized sphere in an anisotropic dielectric medium. The fact that z_{\perp}^{DDS} and $z_{\parallel}^{\text{DDS}}$ generally differ gives rise to three different regions as shown in Figure 11(C), viz., a region with $\varepsilon_{\perp} = \varepsilon_{\parallel} = 1$, comprising the solid, an anisotropic region with $\varepsilon_{\perp} = 1$ and ε_{\parallel} = 70, and a region with $\varepsilon_{\perp} = \varepsilon_{\parallel} = 70$, comprising the bulk fluid. Calculating the free energy in this anisotropic dielectric environment yields excellent agreement with the simulations, see the blue solid line in Figure 11(D). This calculation shows that the anisotropic local dielectric environment has a strong effect on the electrostatic part of the potential of mean force, providing a source of surface specificity through z_{\perp}^{DDS} and $z_{\parallel}^{\text{DDS}}$, as well as ion specificity through the effective ion diameter d.

In the calculations above, it is assumed that the dielectric profile of the environment, which includes the space inside the ion, is unaffected by the presence of the ion. The resulting free energy is indistinguishable from the free energy of a nonpolarizable sphere, having $\varepsilon_{\perp} = \varepsilon_{\parallel} = 1$ inside.¹¹⁷ If instead the ions are modeled as being perfectly polarizable ($\varepsilon_{\perp} \rightarrow \infty$, $\varepsilon_{\parallel} \rightarrow \infty$), the image charge repulsion in the interfacial region is reduced, allowing ions to move closer to the interface.^{165,166} The reduction of the image charge repulsion has been confirmed by molecular dynamics simulations with polarizable ion force fields.^{59,167} Note, however, that the ion's surface excess at the vapor/water interface, including adsorption of hydronium ions, can be quantitatively reproduced by welloptimized force fields without explicit polarizability.⁷⁷ In that case, the ion's polarizability is effectively incorporated in the Lennard-Jones part of the interaction potential.

4.2. Box Profile of the Potential of Mean Force

To simplify the inclusion of the potential of mean force into the Poisson–Boltzmann equation, we define a box model for the ion–surface interaction potential $\mu_i(z)$,

$$\mu_{i}^{*}(z) = \begin{cases} \infty & \text{for } z < z^{\ddagger} \\ \nu_{i} & \text{for } z^{\ddagger} \le z < z^{\ddagger} + z^{*} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(23)

The adsorption strength ν_i can be extracted from MD simulations for every ion type *i* by equating the surface excess relative to z^{\ddagger} predicted by eq 23 to the surface excess predicted by the potential of mean force,

$$(e^{-\nu_i} - 1)z^* = \int_{-\infty}^{z^*} e^{-\Delta F_i(z)} dz + \int_{z^*}^{\infty} (e^{-\Delta F_i(z)} - 1) dz$$
(24)

At the vapor/water interface, the Gibbs dividing surface is a natural choice for the position z^{\ddagger} . Other choices are also possible, such as $z^{\ddagger} = z_s$ at solid surfaces. The range z^* of the potential is a free parameter, for which we choose $z^* = 0.5$ nm at the vapor/water interface based on the MD result that the

potentials of mean force start to deviate from zero at that position, see Figure 10(E). The expression in eq 24 is known as the Henry adsorption coefficient.¹⁶⁸

4.3. Extended Poisson–Boltzmann Equations

At charged interfaces and at finite salt concentrations, interactions with other ions and with the surface charge have to be taken into account, for which a modified mean-field theory has been developed. A system with ions has a nonzero monopole density $P_0(z)$, which is the free charge in the multipole expansion shown for the polarization in eq 3, and therefore produces a spatially varying displacement field $D_{\perp}(z)$. In this case the local expression for the inverse dielectric profile $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$ in eq 10 is not strictly valid. However, if the variation of the displacement field is slow compared to the variation of the electric field, we can use the locality approximation

$$\varepsilon_0 \delta E_{\perp}(z) \approx \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) D_{\perp}(z)$$
 (25)

where we additionally assume that changes from the situation with $P_0 = 0$ are small, equating the local change in the displacement field to the displacement field itself. Equation 25 is valid at low surface charge density or low salt concentration.^{10,127} We use $\nabla \delta \psi(z) = -\delta E_{\perp}(z)$, with $\delta \psi(z)$ being the excess electrostatic potential caused by the field $D_{\perp}(z)$, see Figure 1, and $\nabla D_{\perp}(z) = P_0(z)$, with $P_0(z)$ being the ionic charge density. Taking the derivative of eq 25, we arrive at the extended Poisson equation

$$\varepsilon_0 \nabla^2 \delta \psi(z) = -D_{\perp}(z) \nabla \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) - \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) P_0(z)$$
⁽²⁶⁾

Multiplying eq 26 by $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$ and inserting eq 25, we arrive at

$$\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)\varepsilon_{0}\nabla^{2}\delta\psi(z) = \varepsilon_{0}\nabla\delta\psi(z)\nabla\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z) - \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-2}(z)P_{0}(z)$$
(27)

For a solution of monovalent ions, the free charge density is calculated from the ionic densities $c_+(z)$ and $c_-(z)$,

$$P_0(z) = e(c_+(z) - c_-(z)) + P_0^s(z)$$
(28)

with *e* being the absolute value of the elementary charge and $P_0^s(z)$ being the charge density on the surface. For soft surfaces and for surfaces with a porous surface layer, the surface charge density has a finite spatial extension, which can be taken into account through the surface charge density profile $P_0^s(z)$. For solid, nonporous surfaces, the surface charge density is typically taken into account as a boundary condition, using

$$\varepsilon_0 \nabla \psi|_{z_s} = -\sigma \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z_s) \tag{29}$$

with σ being the surface charge density. To ensure that the ion density at the surface does not exceed its physical limit set by the ionic volume, we include a Fermionic steric interaction to calculate the ion density profiles from the unrestricted ionic densities $\tilde{c}_+(z)$ and $\tilde{c}_-(z)$,^{11–15}

$$c_{\pm}(z) = \frac{\sqrt{2}\,\tilde{c}_{\pm}(z)}{\sqrt{2} + d_{+}{}^{3}(\tilde{c}_{+}(z) - c_{0}) + d_{-}{}^{3}(\tilde{c}_{-}(z) - c_{0})}$$
(30)

with c_0 being the bulk salt concentration and d_+ and d_- being the steric diameters of positive and negative ions, respectively. Note that these diameters are typically different from the dielectric diameter d introduced in section 4.1.^{108,169} The denominator in eq 30 restricts the maximum density $c_{\pm}(z)$ to $\sqrt{2} d_{\pm}^{-3}$, which is the maximum density of close-packed (facecentered cubic or hexagonal close-packed) spheres of diameter d_{\pm} . For small ions at low salt concentration or at vanishing surface charge density, the steric interaction does not affect the ion density profiles.¹⁷⁰ The unrestricted ionic densities $\tilde{c}_{+}(z)$ and $\tilde{c}_{-}(z)$ obey the Boltzmann distribution

$$\tilde{c}_{\pm}(z) = c_0 \exp(-\mu_{\pm}(z) \mp \beta e \delta \psi(z))$$
(31)

with $\beta = 1/(k_{\rm B}T)$ being the inverse thermal energy and $\mu_+(z)$ and $\mu_-(z)$ being the nonelectrostatic contributions to the potential of the positive and negative ions, respectively. Combining eqs 27, 28, 30 and 31 yields the extended Poisson–Boltzmann equation that we will use in the following sections.

4.4. Charged Interfaces with Counterions Only

Before solving the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equation, we have to determine what to use for the nonelectrostatic potential $\mu_+(z)$. In particular, an important contribution to the interaction of an ion with an interface is the image charge repulsion, which is of Coulombic origin. The image charge interaction is included in the potential of mean force $\Delta F_{+}(z)$, as shown in Figures 10 and 11, but not in the Poisson-Boltzmann equation given by eqs 27, 28, 30 and 31. At interfaces where the image charge repulsion dominates the ion-surface interaction, it needs to be incorporated one way or another, but strictly speaking it is inconsistent to include the image charge potential as a nonelectrostatic contribution. At solid surfaces, the Lennard-Jones contribution dominates the potential of mean force, so we could use the complete PMF $\Delta F_{+}(z)$ as an approximation of $\mu_{+}(z)$. However, if imagecharge effects are included in the PMF, they are included only on the single-particle level while two-body and higher-order correlation effects are neglected. In general, the effect of the missing image charge potential, as well as the effects of the neglect of correlation effects, nonideal electrolyte activity and concentration dependent dielectric decrement, are complex and partially cancel each other.¹⁷¹ Therefore, considering the level of approximation used in the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equation, we deem the introduction of a heuristic image charge potential in the Poisson-Boltzmann equation, as we do below, as justified. Such a heuristic image charge interaction has been used to accurately reproduce Monte Carlo simulations of ion-specific effects at interfaces.¹⁷

Based on the interactions of a sphere with a wall and with a water phase, alternative models for the nonelectrostatic potential without image charge contribution have been introduced.^{59,67} At a solid surface, we use a model aimed at capturing the basic nonelectrostatic features of the Lennard-Jones-dominated PMF of monatomic ions by using the convolution of a sphere with a solid wall with interaction strength B_{\pm} ,

$$\mu_{\pm}(z) = B_{\pm} \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } z < -\frac{1}{2}d_{\pm} \\ \frac{1}{2}(d_{\pm} + z)(d_{\pm} - 2z)^2/d_{\pm}^{-3}, & \text{if } |z| < \frac{1}{2}d_{\pm} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(32)

with z being the distance from the surface (located at $z_s = 0$) and d_{\pm} being the steric ionic diameter. For the results shown in Figure 12(A–B) (broken lines), the Lennard-Jones radii of the simulated ions have been used for d_{\pm} and $B_{\pm} = 200$.⁵⁹

15



Figure 12. Input and results of the extended Poisson-Boltzmann calculation.⁵⁹ (A–B) The effective dielectric profile $\tilde{\varepsilon}_{\perp}^{-1}$ (solid black line, eq 33) and the nonelectrostatic potential $\mu_{+}(z)$ (broken black line, multiplied by 10^{-2} , eq 32) are constructed by convoluting the dielectric profile ε_{\perp}^{-1} (eq 33) and a planar solid wall (eq 32) with a spherical ion, as illustrated in the insets. The diameter of the sodium ion is $d_{+} = 0.330$ nm for the dielectric convolution and $d_{+} = 0.282$ nm for the ion–wall interaction; for chloride the diameters are $d_{-} = 0.446$ nm and $d_{-} = 0.402$ nm. The dielectric profiles used for the convolution, shown in the insets of panels (A) and (B) for the hydrophilic diamond, are identical. (C-F) The result of the extended Poisson-Boltzmann calculation (broken lines, eqs 27, 28, 30 and (31)) compared to the simulation result (solid lines) in the limit of vanishing bulk salt concentration at different diamond surfaces with a surface charge density of $\sigma = 0.3e$ nm⁻² for the chloride simulation and $\sigma = -0.3e$ nm⁻¹ for the sodium simulation. Results at the hydrophilic diamond surface are shown in (C-D) and at the hydrophobic diamond surface in (E-F).

In the linear response regime, nonpolarizable ions in inhomogeneous dielectrics can be treated as point charges in an effective dielectric profile given by the convolution of the dielectric profile with the normalized surface area of the ion.¹⁷² Accordingly, the dielectric profiles $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$ are convoluted with the normalized surface area of a sphere of diameter d_{\pm} , see Figure 12(A–B),

$$\tilde{\varepsilon}_{\perp}^{-1}(z) = \int \varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z') s_{\pm}(z-z') \,\mathrm{d}z' \tag{33}$$

with the normalized atomic surface area density being given by

$$s_{\pm}(z) = \begin{cases} d_{\pm}^{-1} & \text{if } |z| < \frac{1}{2}d_{\pm} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(34)

The dielectric diameter d_\pm is estimated from the ionic solvation free energy $\Delta F_\pm(z)~{\rm as}^{108,169}$

$$d_{\pm} = \frac{e^2 (1 - \varepsilon_{bulk})}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{bulk} (\Delta F_{\pm}(z_w) - \Delta F_{\pm}(z_v))}$$
(35)

using the complete solvation free energy for convenience, instead of only the quadratic Coulombic part as in eq 22. Convolution according to eqs 33 and 34 is identical to calculating a running average over d_{\pm} . Using the solvation free energy $\Delta F_{\pm}(z_w) - \Delta F_{\pm}(z_v)$ with respect to which the MD force fields are optimized,¹⁷³ we find $d_{-} = 0.446$ nm for Cl⁻ and $d_{+} = 0.330$ nm for Na⁺. Note that the value for Cl⁻ differs by 12% from the value used in section 4.1, where only the q^2 dependent contribution of the Coulombic part of $\Delta F_{\pm}(z)$ has been used. Apart from high positive electric fields at hydrophobic surfaces, external electric fields do not affect the dielectric profile much,^{108,142} as will be discussed in more detail in section 4.6. Therefore, we use the dielectric profile determined at zero external electric field.

In Figure 12(C-F) we show the densities of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ at a hydrophilic and a hydrophobic diamond surface with surface charge density $\sigma = \pm 0.3 e/nm^2$ calculated using the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equation (broken lines). The calculations are compared to the results of FF-based MD simulations with only counterions present. The agreement is reasonably good in all cases. In particular, the strong adsorption of sodium onto hydrophilic surfaces, observed already in the PMFs (Figure 10), is faithfully reproduced. This calculation shows that the deviations of the ion densities at charged solid surfaces from the Gouy-Chapman model, including ion-specific effects, can be modeled by a combination of the dielectric profile and the steric repulsion of a sphere from a solid wall. Specifically, the low-dielectric region near the interface enhances the electrostatic interactions, causing extra attraction of ions that are small enough to enter this region.

4.5. Ion Adsorption at Finite Bulk Concentration

Ultimately, we test the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equation in the case of finite salt concentrations at a zwitterionic surface. At phospholipid membranes, ion-specific interactions cause adsorption of sodium over chloride, which is modeled using the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equation from section 4.3. In contrast to solid surfaces, the Lennard-Jones repulsion does not dominate the PMF. Instead, the interaction of the lipids with the lipid headgroup partial charges and the image charge interaction are primarily responsible for the repulsion of the ions from the lipid phase. Therefore, the complete ionic potential of mean force shown in Figure 10(B) is used for $\mu_{+}(z)$. This procedure heuristically introduces the image charge repulsion into the Poisson-Boltzmann equation, as discussed in section 4.4. We set $P_0^s(z) = 0$ in eq 28, because effects due to the lipid charge distribution are included in the ionic PMF, and use the dielectric profile from Figure 5(E). Because the dielectric profile at the phospholipid membrane essentially consists of a smooth decrease over about 1 nm, exceeding the ion size, it has little influence on the calculated ion densities.

The ion densities at the lipid membrane are shown in Figure 13. Clearly, the extended Poisson–Boltzmann equation is capable of reproducing the densities of Na^+ and Cl^- at zwitterionic surfaces, including the ion-specific preferential adsorption of sodium.

4.6. Effect of lons and Electric Fields on the Dielectric and Viscous Properties

So far, we have used the approximation that the viscosity and the dielectric properties of the fluid are not disturbed by the local interfacial electric field or the ion concentration, which is a good approximation for double layers at surfaces with low



Figure 13. Sodium and chloride concentration profiles resulting from the extended Poisson–Boltzmann calculation (broken lines) compared to the simulation result (solid lines) at a POPC lipid membrane at a bulk salt concentration of 0.44 M NaCl (CHARMM 36 with TIP3P). The dielectric profile from Figure 5(E) is used for $\varepsilon_{\perp}^{-1}(z)$, and the potential of mean force shown in Figure 10(B) is used for the nonelectrostatic potential $\mu_{\pm}(z)$.¹³²

charge densities. Yet close to highly charged interfaces, the electric field is very high, and so is the ion concentration. In bulk, both applied electric fields and added salt have a strong influence on the dielectric constant and the viscosity, and it has been hypothesized that the same effects are important near charged interfaces.^{55,174,175}

The influence of the field and the ion concentration is estimated by calculating the dielectric constant $\varepsilon(E_0, c_0)$ and the viscosity $\eta(E_0, c_0)$ in bulk for different electric fields E_0 and salt concentrations c_0 . In eq 10, the dielectric constant ε is defined as the proportionality constant between an infinitesimal increment in the displacement field and an infinitesimal increment in the electric field, which can be calculated from the polarization fluctuations or by applying a finite field.¹²⁸ When including an electric-field dependent dielectric constant in the Poisson equation, however, the relevant quantity is the dielectric difference constant $\overline{\varepsilon}$, defined as the proportionality constant between a finite displacement field and a finite electric field,¹⁴²

$$\overline{\varepsilon}(E_0, c_0) = 1 + \frac{\langle M \rangle}{\varepsilon_0 V E_0}$$
(36)

with *M* being the polarization in the direction of the electric field and *V* being the volume. As can be seen in Figure 14(A), the dielectric difference constant decreases both with increasing salt concentration and with increasing electric field. At vanishing salt concentration, an expression for the dielectric difference constant parallel to the applied electric field has been derived based on the nonlinear dielectric response of a simple dipole in the absence of many-body effects, ¹⁷⁶

$$\overline{\varepsilon}(E_0,0) = \varepsilon_n + \frac{3(\varepsilon_w - \varepsilon_n)}{k_E E_0} \left[\coth k_E E_0 - \frac{1}{k_E E_0} \right]$$
(37)

with ε_n and k_E being fit parameters and ε_w being the dielectric constant of pure water. For low electric fields, an expansion of eq 37 yields the quadratic decrease $\overline{\varepsilon}(E_0,0) \approx \varepsilon_w - (\varepsilon_w - \varepsilon_n)(k_E E_0)^2 / 15 + O(E_0^4)$. Equation 37 perfectly fits the data obtained from the FF-based MD simulations.¹⁴² The fit parameters are $k_E \approx 8.01$ nm V⁻¹ and $\varepsilon_n \approx 1.80$, which is close to the expected $\varepsilon_n = 1$. The effect of the salt concentration on the dielectric properties is also caused by the electric field, this time emanating from the ions. At vanishing electric field, the dependence of the dielectric



Figure 14. Effects of the ion concentration c_0 and the electric field strength E_0 on the dielectric constant and the viscosity.¹⁴² (A) The dielectric constant in bulk water from MD simulations (symbols) decreases with increasing c_0 and with increasing E_0 . Solid lines denote fits with eq 39. (B) The viscosity of bulk water from MD simulations (symbols) increases with increasing c_0 but decreases slightly with E_0 for fields below 1 V/nm. Solid lines denote fits with eq 42. (C) The dielectric profile and (D) the effective viscosity profile resulting from the solution of the Poisson-Boltzmann equation with the dielectric profile of eq 43 and using the effective viscosity profile of eq 44. The bulk salt concentration is 10 mM. The insets show magnifications of the areas around the dividing surface of the effective viscosity and the dielectric constant. (E) Sketch of a charged decanol surface with counterions used in the electrokinetic simulations. The water is not shown. (F) Electrokinetic surface charge density σ_{ek} as a function of bare surface charge density σ in FF-based simulations and experiments (symbols). The lines show the result of the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equation at $c_0 = 10$ mM with the extended box model using $z^* = 0$ in eqs 43 and 44 (broken blue line) and using values for z^* , $\overline{\epsilon}_{int}$ and η_{int} extracted from MD simulations¹³⁹ (solid blue line). Note that using eqs 43 and 44 with $\overline{\varepsilon}(0,0)$ and $\eta(0,0)$ for z > z^* yields results that are indistinguishable from the solid blue line (curves overlap).¹⁴² The solid straight black line denotes the Stokes-Gouy–Chapman model, where $\sigma_{ek} = \sigma$.

constant on the salt concentration is accurately described by the equation $^{177}\,$

$$\overline{\epsilon}(0,c_0) = \epsilon_w + (\epsilon_w - \epsilon_{ms}) \left[\coth k_c c_0 - \frac{1}{k_c c_0} \right]$$
(38)

with ε_{ms} being the limiting value of the dielectric constant for very high salt concentrations (molten salt) and k_c being a fit parameter which is related to the excess polarizability α of the ions via $k_c = 3\alpha/(\varepsilon_w - \varepsilon_{ms})$. Note that $\overline{\varepsilon}(0,c_0) = \varepsilon(0,c_0)$. The orange solid curve for $E_0 = 0$ in Figure 14(A) shows that eq 38 provides an excellent fit to the simulation data. The fit parameters are $\varepsilon_{ms} \approx 28.5$ and $\alpha \approx -12.3$ M⁻¹, comparing well to the experimental data reported for NaCl ($\varepsilon_{ms} = 27.9$, $\alpha =$ -11.59 M^{-1}).¹⁷¹ To describe the combined effect of the finite E_0 and c_0 , the expressions of eqs 38 and 37 are combined using a multiplicative assumption

$$\overline{\varepsilon}(E_0, c_0) = 1 + \frac{[\overline{\varepsilon}(0, c_0) - 1][\overline{\varepsilon}(E_0, 0) - 1]}{\varepsilon_w - 1}$$
(39)

Equation 39 ensures that $\overline{\varepsilon}(0,0) = \varepsilon_{\mu\nu}$ and $\overline{\varepsilon}(c_0 \to \infty, E_0 \to \infty) \ge 1$. The solid curves in Figure 14(A) show that the multiplicative assumption yields an accurate description of $\overline{\varepsilon}(E_0, c_0)$.

The dependence of the viscosity $\eta(0, c_0)$ on the salt concentration c_0 is well described by a second degree polynomial (Figure 14(B), orange line),

$$\eta(0,c_0) = \eta_w + \kappa_c' c_0 + \kappa_c'' c_0^2$$
(40)

Note that the asymptotic concentration dependent viscosity at low c_0 is in fact proportional to $\sqrt{c_0}$,¹⁷⁸ which becomes significant at low concentrations ($c_0 < 0.5$ M). At the high concentrations treated here, the square root term can be neglected, but the quadratic term is included on a phenomenological basis instead. The fit parameters are found to be $\kappa'_c = 77.7 \times 10^{-3}$ mPa·s/M and $\kappa''_c = 22.3 \times 10^{-3}$ mPa·s/ M². To model the viscosity as a function of electric field strength at vanishing salt concentration, the viscosity is interpolated using a heuristic fit function. At high electric field, the viscosity needs to be a function of even powers of the field E_0 . A simple empirical ansatz for $\eta(E_0, 0)$, which is consistent with these requirements, is given by

$$\eta(E_0,0) = \eta_w + \kappa_E' \frac{(\beta p_0 E_0)^2}{1 + (\beta p_0 E_0)^2} + \kappa_E'' (\beta p_0 E_0)^2$$
(41)

where κ'_E and κ''_E are fit parameters, β is the inverse thermal energy and $p_0 = 0.049e$ nm is the dipole moment of a single water molecule, for which the SPC/E model is used here. Fitting yields $\kappa'_E = -0.190$ mPa·s and $\kappa''_E = 8.90 \ \mu$ Pa·s for the viscosity component perpendicular to the applied field. Like for the dielectric difference constant, a multiplicative combination of eqs 40 and 41 is used to model the viscosity at finite concentration and electric field,

$$\eta(E_0, c_0) = \frac{\eta(0, c_0)\eta(E_0, 0)}{\eta_w}$$
(42)

The reduced bulk dielectric constant and increased bulk viscosity at high electric field strengths and high ion concentrations are qualitatively consistent with the properties of the interfacial layer at charged surfaces discussed in sections 3.1 and 3.4. To test whether the concentration and electric field dependent response of bulk water is sufficient to describe the interfacial properties, we consider a model where the dielectric and viscous properties of the entire double layer are governed by eqs 39 and 42. These equations are used with $\mu_{\pm}(z) = 0$, $d_{\pm} = 0.3$ nm, $P_0^s(z) = 0$ and $c_0 = 10$ mM, to calculate the electrokinetic surface charge density σ_{ek} , defined in ref 141, by self-consistently solving the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equation (eqs 27, 28, 30 and 31) and the Stokes equation (eq 18). For the calculation of $\overline{\varepsilon}(E_0, c_0)$ when $c_{\pm}(z) \neq c_0$, the approximation is made that anions and cations have the same effect on the dielectric constant, defining the local ion concentration as $c(z) = \frac{1}{2}c_{+}(z) + \frac{1}{2}c_{-}(z)$. A fixed surface

charge density σ is used as the boundary condition at the surface, located at $z = z_s = 0$. The calculated σ_{ek} is plotted as a broken line in Figure 14(F) as a function of the bare surface charge density σ .¹⁴² The failure to reproduce the electrokinetic surface charge density of charged TiO2 colloids (blue symbols), which has been obtained by measuring their electrophoretic mobility, shows that the dielectric and viscous properties of the double layer are not caused by the effect of the electric field and the ions on the water alone. This observation is consistent with the finding that the modified interfacial properties as shown in Figure 5 are also present at uncharged surfaces and in pure water and that the effect of external electric fields up to 2 V/nm on the interfacial dielectric profiles is negligible.¹⁰⁸ Therefore, to obtain quantitative agreement with the experiments, we maintain a version of the box models of the interfacial layer introduced in sections 3.2 and 3.5, but we incorporate the dependence on electric field and salt concentration in the remaining space. For the dielectric profile,

$$\overline{\varepsilon}^{*}(E(z), c(z), z) = \begin{cases} \overline{\varepsilon}_{int} & \text{for } z < z^{*} \\ \overline{\varepsilon}(E(z), c(z)) & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(43)

where E(z) and c(z) are determined by self-consistently solving the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equation from section 4.3 with the same settings as previously in this section, but using the inverse of eq 43 for the inverse dielectric profile in eqs 27 and 29. To parametrize the box model, the quotient of the interfacial dielectric constant $\overline{\epsilon}_{int}$ and the width of the interfacial layer z^* are extracted from FF MD simulations of the dielectric profile.¹²⁷ To achieve quantitative agreement with experimental data, the value of z^* is treated as a fit parameter, which simultaneously determines $\overline{\epsilon_{int}}$.¹³⁹ Note that this automatically incorporates a possible dependence of z^{\ast} on, for instance, the surface charge density and the salt concentration, if these affect the interfacial water structure. Similar to eq 43, we extend the box model for the effective viscosity profile with the dependence on the salt concentration and the electric field,^{137,12}

$$\eta^{*}(E(z), c(z), z) = \begin{cases} \eta_{int} & \text{for } z < z^{*} \\ \eta(c(z), E(z)) & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(44)

with η_{int} being the interfacial viscosity. For z^* we use the same value as in eq 43. We will refer to the model of eqs 43 and 44 as the "extended box model".

The dielectric and viscous profiles resulting from the selfconsistent solution of the Poisson-Boltzmann equation with eq 43 are shown in Figure 14(C-D). Clearly, the influence of the electric field and concentration dependence of $\overline{\varepsilon}^*(E, c, z)$ and $\eta^*(E, c, z)$ is very small compared to the effect of the dielectric dividing surface and the box model for the viscosity. This fact is reflected in the electrophoretic surface charge density σ_{ek} calculated from the Stokes and extended Poisson-Boltzmann equations using the extended box model, shown as a blue solid line in Figure 14(F). As the comparison with the experimental data (blue squares) shows, the measured electrokinetic mobility of charged colloids is accurately reproduced using the extended box model for the viscosity and the dielectric constant. Surprisingly, the inclusion of the dependence on field strength and concentration makes no difference compared to using only the dielectric and viscous

box models (curves overlap).¹⁴² This means that the box parts of eqs 43 and 44, essentially corresponding to the contribution from the interfacial water structure, dominate the dielectric and viscous properties in the electric double layer. Note that the presence of ions and surface charge can still affect the interfacial water structure, but the bulk-like dependence of the viscosity and dielectric constant on the electric field and the ion concentration can be neglected.

4.7. Charged Surfactants

Charges on the surface of solutes in aqueous solution can be caused by a chemical reaction, such as deprotonation, but also by adsorption of charged species. In fact, the vapor/water interface also has been found to be negatively charged, which must be caused by the adsorption of charged species. The adsorption causes a change in the surface tension γ according to the Gibbs adsorption isotherm,¹⁸²

$$d\gamma = -\sum_{i} \Gamma_{i} d\mu_{i} = -k_{B}T \sum_{i} \frac{\Gamma_{i}}{c_{0,i}} \frac{d(\ln a_{i})}{d(\ln c_{0,i})} dc_{0,i}$$
(45)

with μ_i (without z-dependence to distinguish it from the nonelectrostatic potential) being the bulk chemical potential of species *i*. The activity is denoted by a_{ij} and the bulk concentration is denoted by $c_{0,i}$. The sum in eq 45 is performed over all nonaqueous species, and the surface excess of species *i* is given by

$$\Gamma_{i} = \int_{-\infty}^{z_{\text{GDS}}} c_{i}(z) \, \mathrm{d}z + \int_{z_{\text{GDS}}}^{\infty} (c_{i}(z) - c_{0,i}) \, \mathrm{d}z \tag{46}$$

To express the surface tension in terms of the salt concentration for a salt with valencies v_+ and v_- , the chemical potential of the salt can be expressed as $\mu_{salt} = v_+\mu_+ + v_-\mu_-$, with μ_+ and μ_- being the chemical potentials of the positive and negative ions, respectively. The bulk ion concentrations equal $c_{0,+} = v_+c_0$ and $c_{0,-} = v_-c_0$. Using the mean activity $a_{salt} = (a_+^{v_+}a_-^{v_-})^{(1/v)}$, with $v = v_+ + v_-$, we find $\mu_{salt} = \mu_{salt}^0 + vk_BT \ln a_{salt}$ with μ_{salt}^0 being a reference value. Inserting this expression into eq 45 gives

$$d\gamma = -k_{\rm B}T \frac{v \Gamma_{\rm salt}}{c_0} \frac{d(\ln a_{\rm salt})}{d(\ln c_0)} dc_0$$
(47)

with $v\Gamma_{\text{salt}} = \Gamma_{+} + \Gamma_{-}$. Equation 47 shows that the change in surface tension γ is directly proportional to the change in bulk salt concentration c_0 with a proportionality constant depending linearly on the summed surface excess of cations and anions. The prevalent hypothesis explaining the negative charge on vapor/water and other hydrophobic aqueous interfaces has been the adsorption of OH⁻ ions,¹⁸³ yet OH⁻ adsorption is inconsistent with direct surface tension measurements.77,184,185 In particular, the measured surface tension of the vapor/water interface increases more with the addition of NaOH than with the addition of NaCl, see the dotted lines in Figure 15(A). In contrast, the surface tension decreases with the addition of HCl, showing that whereas OH⁻ desorbs from the interface, H_3O^+ adsorbs, as follows from eq 47. FF MD simulations with optimized force fields quantitatively reproduce this trend,⁷⁷ see the symbols in Figure 15(A).

Other possible explanations for the negative surface charge on the vapor/water interface include the adsorption of charged surfactants, which adsorb in significant quantities even at minute bulk concentrations. For example, even nanomolar concentrations of SDS and $C_{12}TAC$ strongly affect sum-



Figure 15. Surface tension change of the vapor/water interface as a function of salt concentration: (A) in the presence of NaCl, NaOH and HCl from experiments (dotted lines) and FF MD simulations (symbols)⁷⁷ and (B) as a function of NaCl concentration in the presence of H_3O^+ , OH^- and surface-active charged impurities. Lines depict the results of eq 48, and symbols denote experimental results. Open squares, bubble pressure (powder);¹⁷⁹ open circles, bubble pressure (single crystal);¹⁷⁹ solid circles, capillary rise;¹⁸⁰ plus signs, Wilhelmy plate (H_2O);¹⁸¹ diagonal crosses, Wilhelmy plate (D_2O).¹⁸¹

frequency spectra of the CCl₄/water interface.^{186,187} Adsorption of charged species that are present only at low concentrations can be conveniently detected by studying the change of surface tension at low salt concentration. It has been known for a long time that the surface tension γ of the vapor/ water interface exhibits a minimum at a concentration of about 1 mM of salt, largely independent of salt type, known as the Jones-Ray effect.^{180,188} In Figure 15(B), we show the experimental results for the surface tension change $\Delta \gamma$ as a function of the NaCl concentration from different laboratories using different methods. To explain the minimum, the surface tension at the vapor/water interface including H₃O⁺, OH⁻ and surface-active charged impurities is calculated by solving the extended Poisson-Boltzmann equations 27-31 with a constant dielectric response $\varepsilon_{\perp}(z) = \varepsilon_{\perp}$ no steric interactions and using the ion-surface interaction $\mu_i^*(z)$ from eq 23.¹⁸⁹ The surface tension is calculated by integrating eq 45,

$$\gamma = -k_{\rm B}T \sum_{i} \int_{0}^{c_{0,i}} \frac{\Gamma_{i}}{c_{0,i}'} \, \mathrm{d}c_{0,i}' \tag{48}$$

where the logarithmic derivative of the activity in eq 45 vanishes because the activity tends to the concentration at low concentration. To parametrize $\mu_i^*(z)$, the Gibbs dividing surface is used for z^{\ddagger} , $z^* = 0.5$ nm, and the values of ν_i for Na⁺, Cl⁻, H₃O⁺ and OH⁻ are determined by fitting eq 48 to the experimental surface tension as a function of the concentration. The results of the fit are $\nu_{\text{Na}^+} = 1.2$, $\nu_{\text{Cl}^-} = 1.0$ and $\nu_{\text{OH}^-} = 1.6$, all being repelled from the interface, and $\nu_{\text{H₃O^+}} = -0.9$, showing slight adsorption. The bulk concentrations of H₃O⁺ and OH⁻ are equal to $c_{0,\text{H_{3}O^+} = c_{0,\text{OH}^-} = 10^{-7}$ M at neutral pH = 7. The result for $\Delta\gamma$ as a function of the NaCl concentration is shown as a broken line in Figure 15(B), clearly failing to reproduce the experimental results at low salt concentration.}

Because only H_3O^+ , OH^- , Na^+ and Cl^- are insufficient to reproduce the Jones–Ray effect, a fifth species is added to model the presence of impurities. It has been shown experimentally that intentionally adding small amounts of the surfactant C_{12} TAB indeed induces the Jones–Ray effect.^{190,191} The impurities are parametrized by fitting the surface tension of the common surfactant SDS, leading to an estimated value of $\nu_{imp} = -15.6$, similar to the value for other surfactants.¹⁸⁹ The bulk concentration of impurities $c_{0,imp}$ is treated as a fit parameter. By adding impurities with a bulk concentration in the nanomolar range, the experimental data can be fitted with very high accuracy, see Figure 15(B). Note that different impurity concentrations are necessary to fit the data sets from different measurement methods and laboratories, which supports the hypothesis that impurities cause the Jones–Ray effect.

Summarizing, hydroxide adsorption does not provide a consistent explanation for the surface tension of the vapor/ water interface at low and high salt concentrations. In fact, hydroxide does not adsorb to the interface at all. Also the presence of hydronium ions, although they do adsorb to the interface, does not explain the Jones-Ray effect because the adsorption potential is insufficiently strong. Instead, minute quantities of charged surfactants do explain the experimental measurements using only the bulk impurity concentration as a fit parameter. Because of the strong adsorption potential of surfactants, impurities are also predicted to have a measurable effect on the disjoining pressure¹⁹² and on the electrophoretic mobility.^{132,193} Trace amounts of impurities are indeed found to modify the stability of colloidal emulsions and the electrophoretic mobility of colloids.¹⁹⁴ Therefore, the possible presence of impurities at concentration levels that are almost impossible to detect should be taken into account when modeling experimental results for hydrophobic surfaces in aqueous solution at low salt concentrations.

5. DISCUSSION AND OUTLOOK

In the preceding sections we have reviewed a scheme for the development of multiscale models of the electric double layer. Starting from quantum DFT-based and FF-based MD simulations, continuum response functions and effective potentials are calculated and inserted into extended Poisson, Boltzmann and Stokes equations. This approach can be seen foremost as a practical way to substantially improve the predictive power of the Poisson-Boltzmann equation. Of course, by extending the Poisson-Boltzmann equation, the simple analytical solutions that make the Gouy-Chapman theory so alluring are typically lost. However, making some rational approximations of the simulated profiles, e.g., by choosing box profiles that can be parametrized based on simulations or experiments, analytical solutions often still exist. The primary insight offered by incorporating the molecular simulations concerns the important role played by the interfacial water structure, which is largely independent of the surface charge density and the presence of ions. In particular, simulations show that many effects of the Stern layer-often interpreted as a layer of adsorbed ions-are caused by the structure imposed on pure water by the sheer presence of the interface. For example, the steep rise of the electrostatic potential near charged interfaces, steeper than predicted by the Gouy-Chapman theory, is caused by the water structure, the effect of which is represented by the dielectric response function. Also the enhanced or reduced viscous friction in the interfacial layer at hydrophilic and hydrophobic surfaces, respectively, can be reproduced in simulations of pure water at uncharged surfaces. In contrast, adsorbed, partially dehydrated ions and the formation of an inner Helmholtz layer are only found at very high surface charge densities, with an absolute value well exceeding $1e/nm^2$.

In the multiscale approach discussed, the effects of the molecular structure are incorporated at the continuum level with a number of approximations. Important approximations concern the assumption of locality of the response functions and the incorporation of effective ion-surface interaction potentials directly in the Boltzmann equation. Furthermore, fluctuations and correlations between particles are not included, and neither is the influence of the nonideality of the electrolyte activity accounted for in most treatments. Electronic effects originating in the substrate, which are known to affect double layer electrostatics at metal interfaces, 195,196 are not considered in the FF MD simulations. In particular, apart from the variable position of the solvent molecules with respect to the metal, the capacitance of metal electrodes as a function of charge is expected to depend sensitively on the center of mass of the excess charge distribution and the dependence of the interfacial dielectric response on the electrode charge.¹⁹⁵ Surprisingly, however, classical methods to simulate metallic interfaces¹⁹⁷ show that ion–surface interactions and local dielectric properties at metallic graphite/water interfaces are almost identical to the results at nonmetallic graphite.¹¹⁹ These potentiostatic classical MD simulations model the redistribution of charge in the electrode, but the charge is still located on the metal atoms, whereas the spatial extent of the charge response is determined by the electron density, typically extending beyond the atom positions. One way to better account for polarization effects at the interface in MD simulations is treating the solid using electronic structure methods,¹⁹⁸ which additionally allows for electrochemical reaction modeling.¹⁹⁹ For computational efficiency, the electrolyte can be treated on a more coarsegrained level, for example, using force fields, equilibrium distributions from classical density functional theory or continuum models.²⁰⁰ In the latter case, different combinations of nonlinear, nonlocal, and anisotropic models for the dielectric response are available to model the polarizable medium constituting the continuum.²⁰⁰ The effect of metallicity on interfacial viscosity is so far unexplored, but recent results suggest an effect of metallicity on surface friction.²⁰¹ Although atomic-scale inhomogeneity is included in the simulations, the surfaces are treated as laterally homogeneous in the continuum theory, which may be insufficient in some cases.^{154,202} Finally, a topic that is of crucial importance for the further development of the multiscale framework is the availability of accurate force fields for the MD simulations. Although methods to develop ion force fields in bulk water exist and perform well at the vapor/ water interface,^{48,77} these force fields have not been tested extensively on different types of surfaces. An added complication is that whereas the optimization targets for the ion-water and ion-ion interactions are clear, experimental reference quantities for the parametrization of force fields for the substrates are less readily available. If it turns out to be necessary, alternative force field parametrizations in regions of varying dielectric properties and near interfaces are being developed.^{203,204} In the past decade, new simulation methods based on machine-learned (ML) potentials developed rapidly because they reach DFT accuracy at a fraction of the computational costs.²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁸ Originally, ML potentials were purely short-range, but recent extensions have made them also able to cover long-range effects, such as electrostatics, 208-210 which are crucial for simulating the electric double layer. First studies already show that ML potentials mitigate some of the force field accuracy problems and DFT MD time-length scale issues of aqueous systems.^{211,212} Similarly to force field

parametrizations, however, the choice of exchange and correlation functionals when using DFT MD simulations is essential for the success of the approach reviewed here.^{213,214}

Given these limitations, assumptions and approximations, the results of the simulations and continuum calculations are compared to experimental results for the interfacial molecular orientation, interface potential, double layer capacitance, electrokinetic flow, interfacial viscosity, surface tension and disjoining pressure. Specific conclusions from the comparison with experiments can be summarized as follows.

FF- and DFT-based simulations and sum-frequency generation experiments of the vapor/water interface give a similar picture of the interfacial water structure regarding the molecular density and orientation. DFT-based simulations provide an estimate of the mean inner potential of bulk water, which agrees with the most recent experimental results. Both FF- and DFT-based simulations show that the electrochemical potential difference across an interface is significantly smaller than the unperturbed water potential found in simulations, but an accurate numerical value is still elusive.

The dielectric and viscous properties of the interfacial layer can be calculated from FF-based MD simulations using simple rigid water models. The anisotropic dielectric environment at the interface can be used to calculate the linear part (depending quadratically on the ionic charge) of the electrostatic energy of ions at dielectric boundaries, but the surface-specific nonlinear contributions are important in the interfacial region. The extended Poisson–Boltzmann equation, including the dielectric profile and using a heuristic nonelectrostatic potential, succeeds at reproducing simulated ion density profiles at solid and lipid interfaces, with and without surface charge. The same framework accurately reproduces experimental results for the interfacial capacitance as a function of salt concentration and as a function of confinement in a slit geometry, using the effective slit width as a fit parameter.

Although the viscosity at hydrophilic and charged hydrophobic surfaces is strongly enhanced, a truly stagnant layer only forms at surface charge densities well exceeding $1e/nm^2$ in absolute value for nonpolar surfaces. In that case, the stagnant layer coincides with the inner Helmholtz layer. Experimental results for the electrophoretic mobility of colloids can be accurately reproduced by combining the Stokes and Poisson–Boltzmann equations with the simulated dielectric and viscous response profiles.

Comparing the extended Poisson–Boltzmann equation to electrokinetic experiments, we estimate based on the bulk electrolyte properties that the presence of ions, as well as the strong electric field in the interfacial layer at charged surfaces, have only a minor influence on the interfacial dielectric and viscous properties. Nevertheless, adsorbing ions and nonzero surface charges can have strong effects on the orientation of water molecules in the interfacial region.⁷⁴ Adsorbing ionic species can also give rise to a significant surface charge density. In particular, the presence of minute quantities of ionic surfactants are found to have a measurable effect on the surface tension, the disjoining pressure between surfaces and the electrophoretic mobility of air bubbles.

In conclusion, combining molecular simulations and continuum theory enables us to make reliable predictions without computationally prohibitive calculations. Apart from these practical considerations, the different modifications in the extended Poisson–Boltzmann equation do allow us to unravel the different components of the theory underlying the various experimental observations, as the summary above clearly shows.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Special Issue Paper

This paper is an additional review for *Chem. Rev.* **2022**, volume *122*, issue 12, "Computational Electrochemistry".

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Douwe Jan Bonthuis – Institute of Theoretical and Computational Physics, Graz University of Technology, 8010 Graz, Austria; • orcid.org/0000-0002-1252-7745; Email: bonthuis@tugraz.at

Authors

- Maximilian Becker Fachbereich Physik, Freie Universität Berlin, 14195 Berlin, Germany; Orcid.org/0000-0002-6460-1556
- Philip Loche Fachbereich Physik, Freie Universität Berlin, 14195 Berlin, Germany; Laboratory of Computational Science and Modeling, IMX, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland; orcid.org/0000-0002-9112-0010
- Majid Rezaei Fachbereich Physik, Freie Universität Berlin, 14195 Berlin, Germany; Institute of Theoretical Chemistry, Ulm University, 89081 Ulm, Germany; Octid.org/0000-0003-2844-2313
- Amanuel Wolde-Kidan Fachbereich Physik, Freie Universität Berlin, 14195 Berlin, Germany
- Yuki Uematsu Department of Physics and Information Technology, Kyushu Institute of Technology, 820-8502 Iizuka, Japan; PRESTO, Japan Science and Technology Agency, Kawaguchi, Saitama 332-0012, Japan; © orcid.org/ 0000-0002-4970-4696
- Roland R. Netz Fachbereich Physik, Freie Universität Berlin, 14195 Berlin, Germany

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.3c00307

Author Contributions

[#]M.B., P.L., M.R., and A.W.-K. contributed equally.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Maximilian Becker studied Engineering Science at Technical University Berlin. Currently he is conducting research on computational spectroscopy of liquids at interfaces and in nanoconfinement in order to attain his Ph.D. in physics at Freie Universität Berlin.

Philip Loche studied Physics at Freie Universität in Berlin where he received his Ph.D. in 2021. He currently has a postdoctoral position at the École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne. His research focuses on studying aqueous systems using machine learning and molecular simulations.

Majid Rezaei studied Mechanical Engineering at Isfahan University of Technology, where he earned his Ph.D. in 2019. During his Ph.D. program, he served as a guest researcher at the Physics department of the Free University of Berlin, which was followed by a postdoctoral position at the same institution until 2021. Currently, he is a postdoctoral researcher at the Institute of Theoretical Chemistry at Ulm University. His research primarily focuses on molecular modeling of aqueous electrolytes and solid—liquid interfaces.

Amanuel Wolde-Kidan pursued Biophysics studies at Humboldt University Berlin and Imperial College London. In 2021, he earned his Ph.D. in Physics from Freie Universität Berlin, where his research focused on computational analyses of biological interfaces using largescale simulation approaches. Following his graduation, Amanuel successfully transitioned into the field of Data Science, working in the sustainability and health-tech sectors.

Yuki Uematsu studied physics at Kyoto University and received his Ph.D. in theoretical soft matter physics. He then did postdoctoral research at the Free University of Berlin, Kyushu University, and École Normale Supérieure in Paris. In 2019, he became an Assistant Professor at Kyushu University and is currently an Associate Professor at Kyushu Institute of Technology. His research focuses on understanding the physical chemistry of the water interfaces using both theoretical and experimental approaches.

Roland Netz studied physics at the Technical University of Berlin and at MIT and received his Ph.D. in 1994 from the University of Cologne. After several postdoctoral positions he was appointed associate professor of physics at the LMU Munich in 2002 and full professor of physics at the TU Munich in 2004. Since 2011 he has held a chair in theoretical biosoft-matter physics at the Freie Universität Berlin. His research focuses on the structure, dynamics and spectroscopy of water, proteins, polymers and charged systems using quantum, atomistic, and coarse-grained simulations as well as theoretical approaches.

Douwe Jan Bonthuis studied applied physics at Delft University of Technology and Harvard University. He obtained his Ph.D. in theoretical soft matter physics from the Technical University of Munich in 2012. After a fellowship at the University of Oxford and a postdoctoral position at the Freie Universität Berlin, he was appointed assistant professor of physics at Graz University of Technology in 2019. His research interests include the thermodynamics and kinetics of water, electrolytes, proteins and lipid membranes, as well as solid solutes, nanopores and nanofluidic devices.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge funding from the DFG via the Grants SFB1349 and IRTG-2662, from the Max-Planck Society via the Max Water Initiative and from JST via PRESTO Grant No. JPMJPR2102.

REFERENCES

(1) Bonn, M.; Nagata, Y.; Backus, E. H. G. Molecular structure and dynamics of water at the water-air interface studied with surface-specific vibrational spectroscopy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 5560–5576.

(2) Matsumoto, M.; Kataoka, Y. Study on liquid-vapor interface of water. I. Simulational results of thermodynamic properties and orientational structure. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1988**, *88*, 3233–3245.

(3) Kühne, T. D.; Pascal, T. A.; Kaxiras, E.; Jung, Y. New insights into the structure of the vapor/water interface from large-scale first-principles simulations. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2011**, *2*, 105–113.

(4) Gouy, M. Sur la constitution de la charge électrique à la surface d'un électrolyte. *J. Phys. Theor. Appl.* **1910**, *9*, 457–468.

(5) Chapman, D. L. LI. A contribution to the theory of electrocapillarity. *Philos. Mag.* **1913**, *25*, 475–481.

(6) Stern, O. Zur Theorie der elektrolytischen Doppelschicht. Zeitschrift für Elektrochemie und angewandte physikalische Chemie **1924**, 30, 508–516.

(7) Grahame, D. C. The electrical double layer and the theory of electrocapillarity. *Chem. Rev.* **1947**, *41*, 441–501.

(8) Bockris, J. O.; Devanathan, M. A. V.; Müller, K. On the structure of charged interfaces. *Proc. R. Soc. London A* **1963**, *274*, 55–79.

(9) Lyklema, J.; Minor, M. On surface conduction and its role in electrokinetics. *Colloids Surf.*, A **1998**, *140*, 33–41.

(10) Kornyshev, A. A.; Schmickler, W.; Vorotyntsev, M. A. Nonlocal electrostatic approach to the problem of a double layer at a metalelectrolyte interface. *Phys. Rev. B* **1982**, *25*, 5244.

(11) Bikerman, J. J. Structure and capacity of electrical double layer. *Philos. Mag.* **1942**, *33*, 384–397.

(12) Eigen, M.; Wicke, E. The thermodynamics of electrolytes at higher concentration. J. Phys. Chem. **1954**, 58, 702–714.

(13) Kralj-Iglič, V.; Iglič, A. Influence of finite size of ions on elecrostatic properties of electric double layer. *Electrotechnical Review* (*Ljubljana, Slovenija*) **1994**, *61*, 127–133.

(14) Borukhov, I.; Andelman, D.; Orland, H. Steric effects in electrolytes: A modified Poisson-Boltzmann equation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1997**, *79*, No. 435.

(15) Borukhov, I.; Andelman, D.; Orland, H. Adsorption of large ions from an electrolyte solution: a modified Poisson-Boltzmann equation. *Electrochim. Acta* **2000**, *46*, 221–229.

(16) Boström, M.; Williams, D. R. M.; Ninham, B. W. Surface tension of electrolytes: Specific ion effects explained by dispersion forces. *Langmuir* **2001**, *17*, 4475–4478.

(17) Karraker, K.; Radke, C. Disjoining pressures, zeta potentials and surface tensions of aqueous non-ionic surfactant electrolyte solutions: Theory and comparison to experiment. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2002**, *96*, 231–264.

(18) Manciu, M.; Ruckenstein, E. Specific ion effects via ion hydration: I. Surface tension. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2003**, *105*, 63–101.

(19) Rezus, Y. L. A.; Bakker, H. J. Observation of immobilized water molecules around hydrophobic groups. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2007, *99*, No. 148301.

(20) Niehues, G.; Heyden, M.; Schmidt, D. A.; Havenith, M. Exploring hydrophobicity by THz absorption spectroscopy of solvated amino acids. *Faraday Discuss.* **2011**, *150*, 193–207.

(21) Tielrooij, K. J.; Paparo, D.; Piatkowski, L.; Bakker, H. J.; Bonn, M. Dielectric relaxation dynamics of water in model membranes probed by terahertz spectroscopy. *Biophys. J.* **2009**, *97*, 2484–2492.

(22) Tielrooij, K. J.; van der Post, S. T.; Hunger, J.; Bonn, M.; Bakker, H. J. Anisotropic water reorientation around ions. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2011, 115, 12638–12647.

(23) Luzar, A.; Svetina, S.; Žekš, B. Consideration of the spontaneous polarization of water at the solid/liquid interface. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1985**, *82*, 5146–5154.

(24) Kornyshev, A. A. Nonlocal screening of ions in a structurized polar liquid – new aspects of solvent description in electrolyte theory. *Electrochim. Acta* **1981**, *26*, 1–20.

(25) Buchner, R.; Hefter, G. Interactions and dynamics in electrolyte solutions by dielectric spectroscopy. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 2009, *11*, 8984–8999.

(26) Bopp, P. A.; Kornyshev, A. A.; Sutmann, G. Frequency and wave-vector dependent dielectric function of water: Collective modes and relaxation spectra. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1998**, *109*, 1939–1958.

(27) Berthoumieux, H.; Paillusson, F. Dielectric response in the vicinity of an ion: A nonlocal and nonlinear model of the dielectric properties of water. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2019**, *150*, No. 094507.

(28) Mamatkulov, S. I.; Rinne, K. F.; Buchner, R.; Netz, R. R.; Bonthuis, D. J. Water-separated ion pairs cause the slow dielectric mode of magnesium sulfate solutions. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *148*, No. 222812.

(29) Monet, G.; Bresme, F.; Kornyshev, A.; Berthoumieux, H. Nonlocal dielectric response of water in nanoconfinement. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2021**, *126*, No. 216001.

(30) Bockris, J. O.; Conway, B. E. Determination of the faradaic impedance at solid electrodes and the electrodeposition of copper. J. Chem. Phys. **1958**, 28, 707–716.

(31) Vorotyntsev, M. A.; Kornyshev, A. A. Physical significance of an effective dielectric constant that depends on the distance from the electrode. *Soviet Electrochemistry* **1979**, *15*, 560–564.

(32) Blum, L.; Henderson, D. Mixtures of hard ions and dipoles against a charged wall - the Ornstein-Zernike equation, some exact results, and the mean spherical approximation. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1981**, 74, 1902–1910.

(33) Abrashkin, A.; Andelman, D.; Orland, H. Dipolar Poisson-Boltzmann equation: Ions and dipoles close to charge interfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2007**, *99*, No. 077801.

(34) Koehl, P.; Poitevin, F.; Orland, H.; Delarue, M. Modified Poisson-Boltzmann equations for characterizing biomolecular solvation. *J. Theor. Comput. Chem.* **2014**, *13*, No. 1440001.

(35) Wu, J. Z. In Molecular thermodynamics of complex systems; Lu, X., Hu, Y., Eds.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, 2009; pp 1–73.

(36) Ramirez, R.; Borgis, D. Density functional theory of solvation and its relation to implicit solvent models. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2005**, *109*, 6754–6763.

(37) de Souza, J. P.; Kornyshev, A. A.; Bazant, M. Z. Polar liquids at charged interfaces: A dipolar shell theory. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2022**, *156*, No. 244705.

(38) Fedorov, M. V.; Kornyshev, A. A. Unravelling the solvent response to neutral and charged solutes. *Mol. Phys.* **2007**, *105*, 1–16.

(39) Henderson, D.; Boda, D. Insights from theory and simulation on the electrical double layer. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2009**, *11*, 3822–3830.

(40) Guldbrand, L.; Jönsson, B.; Wennerström, H.; Linse, P. Electrical double layer forces. A Monte Carlo study. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1984**, *80*, 2221–2228.

(41) Moreira, A. G.; Netz, R. R. Binding of similarly charged plates with counterions only. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2001**, *87*, No. 078301.

(42) Boroudjerdi, H.; Kim, Y.; Naji, A.; Netz, R. R.; Schlagberger, X.; Serr, A. Statics and dynamics of strongly charged soft matter. *Phys. Rep.* **2005**, *416*, 129–199.

(43) Šamaj, L.; Trizac, E. Counterions at highly charged interfaces: From one plate to like-charge attraction. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2011**, *106*, No. 078301.

(44) Benjamin, I. Theoretical study of ion solvation at the water liquid-vapor interface. J. Chem. Phys. **1991**, 95, 3698-3709.

(45) Wilson, M. A.; Pohorille, A. Interaction of monovalent ions with the water liquid-vapor interface: A molecular dynamics study. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1991**, *95*, 6005–6013.

(46) Dang, L. X.; Chang, T.-M. Molecular mechanism of ion binding to the liquid/vapor interface of water. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2002**, *106*, 235–238.

(47) Scalfi, L.; Dufils, T.; Reeves, K. G.; Rotenberg, B.; Salanne, M. A semiclassical Thomas-Fermi model to tune the metallicity of electrodes in molecular simulations. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *153*, No. 174704.

(48) Loche, P.; Steinbrunner, P.; Friedowitz, S.; Netz, R. R.; Bonthuis, D. J. Transferable ion force fields in water from a simultaneous optimization of ion solvation and ion-ion interaction. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2021**, *125*, 8581–8587.

(49) Cheng, J.; Sprik, M. The electric double layer at a rutile TiO_2 water interface modelled using density functional theory based molecular dynamics simulation. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2014**, *26*, No. 244108.

(50) Zhang, C.; Hutter, J.; Sprik, M. Coupling of surface chemistry and electric double layer at TiO_2 electrochemical interfaces. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2019**, 10, 3871–3876.

(51) Zhang, C.; Sayer, T.; Hutter, J.; Sprik, M. Modelling electrochemical systems with finite field molecular dynamics. *J. Phys. Energy* **2020**, *2*, No. 032005.

(52) Gonella, G.; Backus, E. H. G.; Nagata, Y.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Loche, P.; Schlaich, A.; Netz, R. R.; Kühnle, A.; McCrum, I. T.; Koper, M. T. M.; Wolf, M.; Winter, B.; Meijer, G.; Campen, R. K.; Bonn, M. Water at charged interfaces. *Nat. Rev. Chem.* **2021**, *5*, 466– 485. (53) Kavokine, N.; Netz, R. R.; Bocquet, L. Fluids at the nanoscale: from continuum to subcontinuum transport. *Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech.* **2021**, *53*, 377–410.

(54) Pronk, S.; Lindahl, E.; Kasson, P. M. Dynamic heterogeneity controls diffusion and viscosity near biological interfaces. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 3034.

(55) Lyklema, J.; Overbeek, J. T. G. On the interpretation of electrokinetic potentials. J. Colloid Sci. 1961, 16, 501–512.

(56) Yoshida, H.; Mizuno, H.; Kinjo, T.; Washizu, H.; Barrat, J.-L. Molecular dynamics simulation of electrokinetic flow of an aqueous electrolyte solution in nanochannels. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2014**, *140*, No. 214701.

(57) Siboulet, B.; Hocine, S.; Hartkamp, R.; Dufrêche, J.-F. Scrutinizing electro-osmosis and surface conductivity with molecular dynamics. J. Phys. Chem. C 2017, 121, 6756–6769.

(58) Hunter, R. J. Zeta potential in colloid science. Principles and applications; Academic Press: London, 1981; pp 4–10.

(59) Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. Beyond the continuum: How molecular solvent structure affects electrostatics and hydrodynamics at solid-electrolyte interfaces. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2013**, *117*, 11397–11413.

(60) Israelachvili, J.; Pashley, R. Molecular layering of water at surfaces and origin of repulsive hydration forces. *Nature* **1983**, *306*, 249–250.

(61) Suzuki, K.; Oyabu, N.; Kobayashi, K.; Matsushige, K.; Yamada, H. Atomic-resolution imaging of graphite-water interface by frequency modulation atomic force microscopy. *Appl. Phys. Express* **2011**, *4*, No. 125102.

(62) Schlesinger, I.; Sivan, U. New information on the hydrophobic interaction revealed by frequency modulation AFM. *Langmuir* **2017**, 33, 2485–2496.

(63) Hedley, J. G.; Berthoumieux, H.; Kornyshev, A. A. The dramatic effect of water structure on hydration forces and the electrical double layer. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2023**, *127*, 8429–8447.

(64) Cheng, L.; Fenter, P.; Nagy, K. L.; Schlegel, M. L.; Sturchio, N. C. Molecular-scale density oscillations in water adjacent to a mica surface. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2001**, *87*, No. 156103.

(65) Fukuto, M.; et al. Nanoscale structure of the oil-water interface. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2016**, *117*, No. 256102.

(66) Mante, P.-A.; Chen, C.-C.; Wen, Y.-C.; Chen, H.-Y.; Yang, S.-C.; Huang, Y.-R.; Chen, I.-J.; Chen, Y.-W.; Gusev, V.; Chen, M.-J.; Kuo, J.-L.; Sheu, J.-K.; Sun, C.-K.; et al. Probing hydrophilic interface of solid/liquid-water by nanoultrasonics. *Sci. Rep.* **2014**, *4*, 6249.

(67) Huang, D. M.; Cottin-Bizonne, C.; Ybert, C.; Bocquet, L. Aqueous electrolytes near hydrophobic surfaces: Dynamic effects of ion specificity and hydrodynamic slip. *Langmuir* **2008**, *24*, 1442–1450.

(68) Rezaei, M.; Azimian, A. R.; Pishevar, A. R.; Bonthuis, D. J. Viscous interfacial layer formation causes electroosmotic mobility reversal in monovalent electrolytes. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *20*, 22517–22524.

(69) Eggebrecht, J.; Thompson, S. M.; Gubbins, K. E. The liquidvapor interface of simple polar fluids. II. Computer simulation. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1987**, *86*, 2299–2308.

(70) Paul, S.; Chandra, A. Liquid-vapor interfaces of simple electrolyte solutions: Molecular dynamics results for ions in Stockmayer fluids. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2003**, *107*, 12705–12712.

(71) Stillinger, F. H., Jr.; Ben-Naim, A. Liquid-vapor interface potential for water. J. Chem. Phys. **1967**, 47, 4431–4437.

(72) Tran, K. N.; Tan, M.-L.; Ichiye, T. A single-site multipole model for liquid water. J. Chem. Phys. 2016, 145, No. 034501.

(73) Becker, M. R.; Loche, P.; Netz, R. R. Electrokinetic, electrochemical, and electrostatic surface potentials of the pristine water liquid-vapor interface. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2022**, *157*, No. 240902.

(74) Hunger, J.; Schaefer, J.; Ober, P.; Seki, T.; Wang, Y.; Prädel, L.; Nagata, Y.; Bonn, M.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Backus, E. H. G. Nature of cations critically affects water at the negatively charged silica interface. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2022**, *144*, 19726–19738. (75) Bonthuis, D. J. In *Encyclopedia of solid—liquid interfaces*, 1st ed.; Wandelt, K., Bussetti, G., Eds.; Elsevier: Oxford, 2024; pp 230–239. (76) Müller, P.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Miller, R.; Schneck, E. Ionic surfactants at air/water and oil/water interfaces: A comparison based on molecular dynamics simulations. J. Phys. Chem. B **2021**, 125, 406– 415.

(77) Mamatkulov, S. I.; Allolio, C.; Netz, R. R.; Bonthuis, D. J. Orientation-induced adsorption of hydrated protons at the air-water interface. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 15846–15851.

(78) Berendsen, H. J. C.; Grigera, J. R.; Straatsma, T. P. The missing term in effective pair potentials. *J. Phys. Chem.* **198**7, *91*, 6269–6271.

(79) Jorgensen, W. L.; Chandrasekhar, J.; Madura, J. D.; Impey, R. W.; Klein, M. L. Comparison of simple potential functions for simulating liquid water. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1983**, *79*, 926–935.

(80) Sedlmeier, F.; Janecek, J.; Sendner, C.; Bocquet, L.; Netz, R. R.; Horinek, D. Water at polar and nonpolar solid walls. *Biointerphases* **2008**, 3, FC23–FC39.

(81) Kessler, J.; Elgabarty, H.; Spura, T.; Karhan, K.; Partovi-Azar, P.; Hassanali, A. A.; Kühne, T. D. Structure and dynamics of the instantaneous water/vapor interface revisited by path-integral and ab initio molecular dynamics simulations. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2015**, *119*, 10079–10086.

(82) Wilson, M. A.; Pohorille, A.; Pratt, L. R. Molecular dynamics of the water liquid vapor interface. J. Phys. Chem. 1987, 91, 4873-4878.
(83) Pivnic, K.; de Souza, J. P.; Kornyshev, A. A.; Urbakh, M.; Bazant, M. Z. Orientational ordering in nano-confined polar liquids. Nano Lett. 2023, 23, 5548-5554.

(84) Shen, Y. R.; Ostroverkhov, V. Sum-frequency vibrational spectroscopy on water interfaces: Polar orientation of water molecules at interfaces. *Chem. Rev.* **2006**, *106*, 1140–1154.

(85) Goh, M. C.; Hicks, J. M.; Kemnitz, K.; Pinto, G. R.; Heinz, T. F.; Eisenthal, K. B.; Bhattacharyya, K. Absolute orientation of water molecules at the neat water surface. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1988**, *92*, 5074–5075.

(86) Nihonyanagi, S.; Kusaka, R.; Inoue, K.-i.; Adhikari, A.; Yamaguchi, S.; Tahara, T. Accurate determination of complex $\chi^{(2)}$ spectrum of the air/water interface. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *143*, No. 124707.

(87) Sun, S.; Liang, R.; Xu, X.; Zhu, H.; Shen, Y. R.; Tian, C. Phase reference in phase-sensitive sum-frequency vibrational spectroscopy. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *144*, No. 244711.

(88) Ji, N.; Ostroverkhov, V.; Tian, C. S.; Shen, Y. R. Characterization of vibrational resonances of water-vapor interfaces by phasesensitive sum-frequency spectroscopy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *100*, No. 096102.

(89) Ohto, T.; Tada, H.; Nagata, Y. Structure and dynamics of water at water-graphene and water-hexagonal boron-nitride sheet interfaces revealed by ab initio sum-frequency generation spectroscopy. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *20*, 12979–12985.

(90) Morita, A.; Hynes, J. T. A theoretical analysis of the sum frequency generation spectrum of the water surface. II. Timedependent approach. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106, 673–685.

(91) Ishiyama, T.; Morita, A. Intermolecular correlation effect in sum frequency generation spectroscopy of electrolyte aqueous solution. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2006**, *431*, 78–82.

(92) Tang, F.; Ohto, T.; Sun, S.; Rouxel, J. R.; Imoto, S.; Backus, E. H. G.; Mukamel, S.; Bonn, M.; Nagata, Y. Molecular structure and modeling of water-air and ice-air interfaces monitored by sum-frequency generation. *Chem. Rev.* **2020**, *120*, 3633–3667.

(93) Emami, F. S.; Puddu, V.; Berry, R. J.; Varshney, V.; Patwardhan, S. V.; Perry, C. C.; Heinz, H. Force field and a surface model database for silica to simulate interfacial properties in atomic resolution. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 2647–2658.

(94) Bresme, F.; Chacón, E.; Tarazona, P. Force-field dependence on the interfacial structure of oil-water interfaces. *Mol. Phys.* 2010, *108*, 1887–1898.

(95) Du, Q.; Freysz, E.; Shen, Y. R. Vibrational spectra of water molecules at quartz/water interfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1994**, *72*, 238.

(96) Cyran, J. D.; Donovan, M. A.; Vollmer, D.; Siro Brigiano, F.; Pezzotti, S.; Galimberti, D. R.; Gaigeot, M.-P.; Bonn, M.; Backus, E. H. G. Molecular hydrophobicity at a macroscopically hydrophilic surface. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **2019**, *116*, 1520–1525.

(97) Cheng, J.-X.; Pautot, S.; Weitz, D. A.; Xie, X. S. Ordering of water molecules between phospholipid bilayers visualized by coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering microscopy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2003**, *100*, 9826–9830.

(98) Chen, X.; Hua, W.; Huang, Z.; Allen, H. C. Interfacial water structure associated with phospholipid membranes studied by phase-sensitive vibrational sum frequency generation spectroscopy. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132*, 11336–11342.

(99) Strazdaite, S.; Versluis, J.; Bakker, H. J. Water orientation at hydrophobic interfaces. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *143*, No. 084708.

(100) Dreier, L. B.; Wolde-Kidan, A.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R.; Backus, E. H.; Bonn, M. Unraveling the origin of the apparent charge of zwitterionic lipid layers. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2019**, *10*, 6355–6359.

(101) Nguyen, T. H.; Zhang, C.; Weichselbaum, E.; Knyazev, D. G.; Pohl, P.; Carloni, P. Interfacial water molecules at biological membranes: Structural features and role for lateral proton diffusion. *PLoS One* **2018**, *13*, No. e0193454.

(102) Yang, Z.; Li, Q.; Chou, K. C. Structures of water molecules at the interfaces of aqueous salt solutions and silica: Cation effects. J. Phys. Chem. C 2009, 113, 8201–8205.

(103) DeWalt-Kerian, E. L.; Kim, S.; Azam, M. S.; Zeng, H.; Liu, Q.; Gibbs, J. M. pH-dependent inversion of Hofmeister trends in the water structure of the electrical double layer. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2017**, *8*, 2855–2861.

(104) Martínez, H.; Chacón, E.; Tarazona, P.; Bresme, F. The intrinsic interfacial structure of ionic surfactant monolayers at wateroil and water-vapour interfaces. *Proc. R. Soc. A* 2011, 467, 1939–1958.

(105) Nihonyanagi, S.; Yamaguchi, S.; Tahara, T. Direct evidence for orientational flip-flop of water molecules at charged interfaces: A heterodyne-detected vibrational sum frequency generation study. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2009**, *130*, No. 204704.

(106) Saldin, D. K.; Spence, J. C. H. On the mean inner potential in high- and low-energy electron diffraction. *Ultramicroscopy* **1994**, *55*, 397–406.

(107) Midgley, P. A. An introduction to off-axis electron holography. *Micron* **2001**, *32*, 167–184.

(108) Bonthuis, D. J.; Gekle, S.; Netz, R. R. Profile of the static permittivity tensor of water at interfaces: Consequences for capacitance, hydration interaction and ion adsorption. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, 7679–7694.

(109) Leung, K. Surface potential at the air-water interface computed using density functional theory. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 2010, 1, 496-499.

(110) Kathmann, S. M.; Kuo, I.-F. W.; Mundy, C. J.; Schenter, G. K. Understanding the surface potential of water. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2011, *115*, 4369–4377.

(111) Remsing, R. C.; Baer, M. D.; Schenter, G. K.; Mundy, C. J.; Weeks, J. D. The role of broken symmetry in solvation of a spherical cavity in classical and quantum water models. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2014**, 5, 2767–2774.

(112) Prozorov, T.; Almeida, T. P.; Kovács, A.; Dunin-Borkowski, R. E. Off-axis electron holography of bacterial cells and magnetic nanoparticles in liquid. *J. R. Soc. Interface* **201**7, *14*, No. 20170464.

(113) Yesibolati, M. N.; Laganà, S.; Sun, H.; Beleggia, M.; Kathmann, S. M.; Kasama, T.; Mølhave, K. Mean inner potential of liquid water. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *124*, No. 065502.

(114) Horváth, L.; Beu, T.; Manghi, M.; Palmeri, J. The vapor-liquid interface potential of (multi)polar fluids and its influence on ion solvation. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2013**, *138*, No. 154702.

(115) Wilson, M. A.; Pohorille, A.; Pratt, L. R. Surface potential of the water liquid-vapor interface. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1988**, *88*, 3281–3285. (116) Harder, E.; Roux, B. On the origin of the electrostatic potential difference at a liquid-vacuum interface. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2008**, *129*, No. 234706.

(117) Loche, P.; Ayaz, C.; Schlaich, A.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. Breakdown of linear dielectric theory for the interaction between hydrated ions and graphene. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2018**, *9*, 6463–6468. (118) Bonthuis, D. J. Original data.

pubs.acs.org/CR

(119) Loche, P.; Scalfi, L.; Ali Amu, M.; Schullian, O.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Rotenberg, B.; Netz, R. R. Effects of surface rigidity and metallicity on dielectric properties and ion interactions at aqueous hydrophobic interfaces. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2022**, *157*, No. 094707.

(120) Latimer, W. M.; Pitzer, K. S.; Slansky, C. M. The free energy of hydration of gaseous ions, and the absolute potential of the normal calomel electrode. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1939**, *7*, 108–111.

(121) Rashin, A. A.; Honig, B. Reevaluation of the Born model of ion hydration. J. Phys. Chem. **1985**, 89, 5588-5593.

(122) Marcus, Y. Thermodynamics of solvation of ions. Part 5.– Gibbs free energy of hydration at 298.15 K. J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. **1991**, 87, 2995–2999.

(123) Benjamin, l. Mechanism and dynamics of ion transfer across a liquid-liquid interface. *Science* **1993**, *261*, 1558–1560.

(124) Caleman, C.; Hub, J. S.; van Maaren, P. J.; van der Spoel, D. Atomistic simulation of ion solvation in water explains surface preference of halides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2011**, *108*, 6838–6842.

(125) Darvas, M.; Jorge, M.; Cordeiro, M. N. D. S.; Kantorovich, S. S.; Sega, M.; Jedlovszky, P. Calculation of the intrinsic solvation free energy profile of an ionic penetrant across a liquid-liquid interface with computer simulations. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2013**, *117*, 16148–16156.

(126) Loche, P.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. Molecular dynamics simulations of the evaporation of hydrated ions from aqueous solution. *Commun. Chem.* **2022**, *5*, 55.

(127) Bonthuis, D. J.; Gekle, S.; Netz, R. R. Dielectric profile of interfacial water and its effect on double-layer capacitance. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2011**, *107*, No. 166102.

(128) Zhang, C.; Sprik, M. Computing the dielectric constant of liquid water at constant dielectric displacement. *Phys. Rev. B* 2016, 93, No. 144201.

(129) Loche, P.; Wolde-Kidan, A.; Schlaich, A.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. Comment on "Hydrophobic surface enhances electrostatic interaction in water. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *123*, No. 049601.

(130) Stern, H. A.; Feller, S. E. Calculation of the dielectric permittivity profile for a nonuniform system: Application to a lipid bilayer simulation. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2003**, *118*, 3401–3412.

(131) Loche, P.; Ayaz, C.; Wolde-Kidan, A.; Schlaich, A.; Netz, R. R. Universal and nonuniversal aspects of electrostatics in aqueous nanoconfinement. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2020**, *124*, 4365–4371.

(132) Wolde-Kidan, A.; Netz, R. R. Interplay of interfacial viscosity, specific-ion, and impurity adsorption determines zeta potentials of phospholipid membranes. *Langmuir* **2021**, *37*, 8463–8473.

(133) Hartkamp, R.; Siboulet, B.; Dufrêche, J.-F.; Coasne, B. Ionspecific adsorption and electroosmosis in charged amorphous porous silica. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 24683–24695.

(134) Ballenegger, V.; Hansen, J. Dielectric permittivity profiles of confined polar fluids. J. Chem. Phys. 2005, 122, No. 114711.

(135) Loche, P.; Ayaz, C.; Schlaich, A.; Uematsu, Y.; Netz, R. R. Giant axial dielectric response in water-filled nanotubes and effective electrostatic ion-ion interactions from a tensorial dielectric model. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2019**, *123*, 10850–10857.

(136) Bonthuis, D. J.; Uematsu, Y.; Netz, R. R. Interfacial layer effects on surface capacitances and electro-osmosis in electrolytes. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A* **2016**, *374*, No. 20150033.

(137) Uematsu, Y.; Netz, R. R.; Bonthuis, D. J. Power-law electrokinetic behavior as a direct probe of effective surface viscosity. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2017**, *670*, 11–15.

(138) Uematsu, Y.; Netz, R. R.; Bonthuis, D. J. The effects of ion adsorption on the potential of zero charge and the differential capacitance of charged aqueous interfaces. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2018**, *30*, No. 064002.

(139) Uematsu, Y.; Netz, R. R.; Bonthuis, D. J. Analytical interfacial layer model for the capacitance and electrokinetics of charged aqueous interfaces. *Langmuir* **2018**, *34*, 9097–9113.

(140) Bresme, F.; Chacón, E.; Tarazona, P.; Tay, K. Intrinsic structure of hydrophobic surfaces: The oil-water interface. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *101*, No. 056102.

(141) Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. Unraveling the combined effects of dielectric and viscosity profiles on surface capacitance, electro-osmotic mobility, and electric surface conductivity. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, 16049–16059.

(142) Rezaei, M.; Mitterwallner, B. G.; Loche, P.; Uematsu, Y.; Netz, R. R.; Bonthuis, D. J. Interfacial, electroviscous, and nonlinear dielectric effects on electrokinetics at highly charged surfaces. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2021**, *125*, 4767–4778.

(143) Fumagalli, L.; Esfandiar, A.; Fabregas, R.; Hu, S.; Ares, P.; Janardanan, A.; Yang, Q.; Radha, B.; Taniguchi, T.; Watanabe, K.; Gomila, G.; Novoselov, K. S.; Geim, A. K. Anomalously low dielectric constant of confined water. *Science* **2018**, *360*, 1339–1342.

(144) Teschke, O.; Ceotto, G.; de Souza, E. F. Interfacial water dielectric-permittivity-profile measurements using atomic force microscopy. *Phys. Rev. E* 2001, *64*, No. 011605.

(145) Metzik, M. S.; Perevertaev, V. D.; Liopo, V. A.; Timoshtchenko, G. T.; Kiselev, A. B. New data on the structure and properties of thin water films on mica crystals. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **1973**, 43, 662–669.

(146) Goertz, M. P.; Houston, J. E.; Zhu, X. Hydrophilicity and the viscosity of interfacial water. *Langmuir* **200**7, *23*, 5491–5497.

(147) Antognozzi, M.; Humphris, A. D. L.; Miles, M. J. Observation of molecular layering in a confined water film and study of the layers viscoelastic properties. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2001**, *78*, 300–302.

(148) Wang, D.; et al. Layer with reduced viscosity at water-oil interfaces probed by fluorescence correlation spectroscopy. *Phys. Rev. E* **2013**, 87, No. 012403.

(149) Eisenthal, K. B. Photochemistry and photophysics of liquid interfaces by second harmonic spectroscopy. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1996**, *100*, 12997–13006.

(150) Wu, D. G.; Malec, A. D.; Head-Gordon, M.; Majda, M. Viscosity of the aqueous liquid/vapor interfacial region: 2D electrochemical measurements with a piperidine nitroxy radical probe. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 4490–4496.

(151) Sen, P.; Yamaguchi, S.; Tahara, T. Ultrafast dynamics of malachite green at the air/water interface studied by femtosecond time-resolved electronic sum frequency generation (TR-ESFG): An indicator for local viscosity. *Faraday Discuss.* **2010**, *145*, 411–428.

(152) Schlaich, A.; Kappler, J.; Netz, R. R. Hydration friction in nanoconfinement: From bulk via interfacial to dry friction. *Nano Lett.* **2017**, *17*, 5969–5976.

(153) Sendner, C.; Horinek, D.; Bocquet, L.; Netz, R. R. Interfacial water at hydrophobic and hydrophilic surfaces: Slip, viscosity, and diffusion. *Langmuir* **2009**, *25*, 10768–10781.

(154) Kim, Y. W.; Netz, R. R. Electro-osmosis at inhomogeneous charged surfaces: Hydrodynamic versus electric friction. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *124*, No. 114709.

(155) Mamatkulov, S. I.; Khabibullaev, P. K.; Netz, R. R. Water at hydrophobic substrates: Curvature, pressure, and temperature effects. *Langmuir* **2004**, *20*, 4756–4763.

(156) Janeček, J.; Netz, R. R. Interfacial water at hydrophobic and hydrophilic surfaces: Depletion versus adsorption. *Langmuir* **2007**, *23*, 8417–8429.

(157) Barrat, J.-L.; Bocquet, L. Large slip effect at a nonwetting fluidsolid interface. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1999**, *82*, 4671.

(158) Cottin-Bizonne, C.; Cross, B.; Steinberger, A.; Charlaix, E. Boundary slip on smooth hydrophobic surfaces: Intrinsic effects and possible artifacts. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2005**, *94*, No. 056102.

(159) Majumder, M.; Chopra, N.; Andrews, R.; Hinds, B. J. Enhanced flow in carbon nanotubes. *Nature* **2005**, *438*, 44–45.

(160) Joly, L.; Ybert, C.; Trizac, E.; Bocquet, L. Liquid friction on charged surfaces: From hydrodynamic slippage to electrokinetics. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *125*, No. 204716.

(161) Schwierz, N.; Horinek, D.; Netz, R. R. Reversed anionic Hofmeister series: The interplay of surface charge and surface polarity. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26*, 7370–7379.

pubs.acs.org/CR

(162) Horinek, D.; Netz, R. R. Specific ion adsorption at hydrophobic solid surfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **200**7, *99*, No. 226104.

(163) Netz, R. R.; Horinek, D. Progress in modeling of ion effects at the vapor/water interface. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2012**, *63*, 401–418.

(164) Kharkats, Y. I.; Ulstrup, J. The electrostatic Gibbs energy of finite-size ions near a planar boundary between two dielectric media. *J. Electroanal. Chem.* **1991**, 308, 17–26.

(165) Levin, Y. Polarizable ions at interfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2009, 102, No. 147803.

(166) Levin, Y.; Dos Santos, A. P.; Diehl, A. Ions at the air-water interface: An end to a hundred-year-old mystery? *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2009**, *103*, No. 257802.

(167) Horinek, D.; Serr, A.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Boström, M.; Kunz, W.; Netz, R. R. Molecular hydrophobic attraction and ion-specific effects studied by molecular dynamics. *Langmuir* **2008**, *24*, 1271–1283.

(168) Henry, W. Experiments on the quantity of gases absorbed by water, at different temperatures, and under different pressures. *Philos. Trans. Royal Soc. A* **1803**, *93*, 29–274.

(169) Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. In *Electrostatics of soft and disordered matter*; Dean, D., Dobnikar, J., Naji, A., Podgornik, R., Eds.; CRC Press: 2014; Chapter 10, pp 129–143.

(170) Bazant, M. Z.; Kilic, M. S.; Storey, B. D.; Ajdari, A. Towards an understanding of induced charge electrokinetics at large applied voltages in concentrated solutions. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2009**, *152*, 48–88.

(171) dos Santos, A. P.; Uematsu, Y.; Rathert, A.; Loche, P.; Netz, R. R. Consistent description of ion-specificity in bulk and at interfaces by solvent implicit simulations and mean-field theory. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *153*, No. 034103.

(172) Boda, D.; Henderson, D.; Eisenberg, B.; Gillespie, D. A method for treating the passage of a charged hard sphere ion as it passes through a sharp dielectric boundary. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *135*, No. 064105.

(173) Horinek, D.; Mamatkulov, S. I.; Netz, R. R. Rational design of ion force fields based on thermodynamic solvation properties. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2009**, *130*, No. 124507.

(174) Bazant, M. Z.; Kilic, M. S.; Storey, B. D.; Ajdari, A. Towards an understanding of induced-charge electrokinetics at large applied voltages in concentrated solutions. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2009**, *152*, 48–88.

(175) Ben-Yaakov, D.; Andelman, D.; Podgornik, R. Dielectric decrement as a source of ion-specific effects. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *134*, No. 074705.

(176) Booth, F. The dielectric constant of water and the saturation effect. J. Chem. Phys. **1951**, 19, 391–394.

(177) Gavish, N.; Promislow, K. Dependence of the dielectric constant of electrolyte solutions on ionic concentration: A microfield approach. *Phys. Rev. E* 2016, *94*, No. 012611.

(178) Jenkins, H. D. B.; Marcus, Y. Viscosity B-coefficients of ions in solution. *Chem. Rev.* **1995**, *95*, 2695–2724.

(179) Passoth, G. Über den Jones-Ray Effekt und die Oberflächenspannung verdünnter Electrolytlösungen. Z. Phys. Chem. 1959, 2110, 129–147.

(180) Jones, G.; Ray, W. A. The surface tension of solutions of electrolytes as a function of the concentration II. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1941**, 63, 288–294.

(181) Chen, Y.; Okur, H. I.; Gomopoulos, N.; Macias-Romero, C.; Cremer, P. S.; Petersen, P. B.; Tocci, G.; Wilkins, D. M.; Liang, C.; Ceriotti, M.; Roke, S. Electrolytes induce long-range orientational order and free energy changes in the H-bond network of bulk water. *Sci. Adv.* **2016**, *2*, No. e1501891.

(182) Adamson, A. W.; Gast, A. P. *Physical chemistry of surfaces*, 6th ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1997; pp 71–74.

(183) Beattie, J. K.; Djerdjev, A. M.; Gray-Weale, A.; Kallay, N.; Lützenkirchen, J.; Preočanin, T.; Selmani, A. pH and the surface tension of water. J. Colloid Interface Sci. **2014**, 422, 54–57. (184) Henry, C. L.; Dalton, C. N.; Scruton, L.; Craig, V. S. J. Ionspecific coalescence of bubbles in mixed electrolyte solutions. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2007, 111, 1015–1023.

(185) Pegram, L. M.; Record, M. T. Hofmeister salt effects on surface tension arise from partitioning of anions and cations between bulk water and the air-water interface. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2007, 111, 5411–5417.

(186) Scatena, L. F.; Richmond, G. L. Aqueous solvation of charge at hydrophobic liquid surfaces. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2004**, *383*, 491–495.

(187) Scatena, L. F.; Richmond, G. L. Isolated molecular ion solvation at an oil/water interface investigated by vibrational sum-frequency spectroscopy. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 12518–12528.

(188) Jones, G.; Ray, W. A. The surface tension of solutions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1935, 57, 957–958.

(189) Uematsu, Y.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. Charged surfaceactive impurities at nanomolar concentration induce Jones-Ray effect. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2018**, *9*, 189–193.

(190) Roger, K.; Cabane, B. Why are hydrophobic/water interfaces negatively charged? *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 5625–5628.

(191) Uematsu, Y.; Chida, K.; Matsubara, H. Intentionally added ionic surfactants induce Jones-Ray effect at air-water interface. *Colloid Interface Sci. Comm.* **2018**, *27*, 45–48.

(192) Uematsu, Y.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. Impurity effects at hydrophobic surfaces. *Curr. Opin. Electrochem.* 2019, 13, 166-173.

(193) Uematsu, Y.; Bonthuis, D. J.; Netz, R. R. Nanomolar surfaceactive charged impurities account for the zeta potential of hydrophobic surfaces. *Langmuir* **2020**, *36*, 3645–3658.

(194) Carpenter, A. P.; Altman, R. M.; Tran, E.; Richmond, G. L. How low can you go? Molecular details of low-charge nanoemulsion surfaces. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2020**, *124*, 4234–4245.

(195) Kornyshev, A. A. Metal electrons in the double layer theory. *Electrochim. Acta* **1989**, *34*, 1829–1847.

(196) Schmickler, W. Electronic effects in the electric double layer. *Chem. Rev.* **1996**, *96*, 3177–3200.

(197) Limmer, D. T.; Merlet, C.; Salanne, M.; Chandler, D.; Madden, P. A.; van Roij, R.; Rotenberg, B. Charge fluctuations in nanoscale capacitors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *111*, No. 106102.

(198) Sundararaman, R.; Vigil-Fowler, D.; Schwarz, K. Improving the accuracy of atomistic simulations of the electrochemical interface. *Chem. Rev.* **2022**, *122*, 10651–10674.

(199) Wu, J. Understanding the electric double-layer structure, capacitance, and charging dynamics. *Chem. Rev.* **2022**, *122*, 10821–10859.

(200) Ringe, S.; Hörmann, N. G.; Oberhofer, H.; Reuter, K. Implicit solvation methods for catalysis at electrified interfaces. *Chem. Rev.* **2022**, *122*, 10777–10820.

(201) Kavokine, N.; Bocquet, M.-L.; Bocquet, L. Fluctuationinduced quantum friction in nanoscale water flows. *Nature* **2022**, *602*, 84–90.

(202) Xie, Y.; Fu, L.; Niehaus, T.; Joly, L. Liquid-solid slip on charged walls: The dramatic impact of charge distribution. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *125*, No. 014501.

(203) Le Breton, G.; Joly, L. Molecular modeling of aqueous electrolytes at interfaces: Effects of long-range dispersion forces and of ionic charge rescaling. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *152*, No. 241102.

(204) Son, C. Y.; Wang, Z.-G. Image-charge effects on ion adsorption near aqueous interfaces. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2021**, *118*, No. e2020615118.

(205) Behler, J.; Parrinello, M. Generalized neural-network representation of high-dimensional potential-energy surfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2007**, *98*, No. 146401.

(206) Bartók, A. P.; Payne, M. C.; Kondor, R.; Csányi, G. Gaussian approximation potentials: The accuracy of quantum mechanics, without the electrons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2010**, *104*, No. 136403.

(207) Rupp, M.; Tkatchenko, A.; Müller, K.-R.; von Lilienfeld, O. A. Fast and accurate modeling of molecular atomization energies with machine learning. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2012**, *108*, No. 058301.

(208) Zeng, J.; Zhang, D.; Lu, D.; Mo, P.; Li, Z.; Chen, Y.; Rynik, M.; Huang, L.; Li, Z.; Shi, S.; et al. DeePMD-kit v2: A software

package for deep potential models. J. Chem. Phys. 2023, 159, No. 054801.

(209) Ko, T. W.; Finkler, J. A.; Goedecker, S.; Behler, J. A fourthgeneration high-dimensional neural network potential with accurate electrostatics including non-local charge transfer. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 398.

(210) Huguenin-Dumittan, K. K.; Loche, P.; Haoran, N.; Ceriotti, M. Physics-inspired equivariant descriptors of non-bonded interactions. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2023**, *14*, 9612–9618.

(211) Schran, C.; Thiemann, F. L.; Rowe, P.; Müller, E. A.; Marsalek, O.; Michaelides, A. Machine learning potentials for complex aqueous systems made simple. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2021**, *118*, No. e2110077118.

(212) Calegari Andrade, M. F.; Ko, H.-Y.; Zhang, L.; Car, R.; Selloni, A. Free energy of proton transfer at the water- TiO_2 interface from ab initio deep potential molecular dynamics. *Chem. Sci.* **2020**, *11*, 2335–2341.

(213) Gillan, M. J.; Alfê, D.; Michaelides, A. Perspective: How good is DFT for water? *J. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *144*, No. 130901.

(214) Ohto, T.; Dodia, M.; Xu, J.; Imoto, S.; Tang, F.; Zysk, F.; Kühne, T. D.; Shigeta, Y.; Bonn, M.; Wu, X.; Nagata, Y. Accessing the accuracy of density functional theory through structure and dynamics of the water-air interface. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2019**, *10*, 4914–4919.